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IGPC-1 1 

Evidence Reference: Exhibit A, Exhibit B, Exhibit C 2 

Preamble: ENGLP’s predecessor filed an application for rates, EB-2016-0236, 3 

which is currently in abeyance.   As such, the current rates continue to be 4 

premised upon the rates approved in EB-2010-0018 and escalated through the 5 

IRM approved as part of EB-2010-0018 and subsequent Board Orders.  As part of 6 

proceeding EB-2016-0236, the rates charged by ENGLP and its predecessor NRG, 7 

have been interim since October 1, 2016. IGPC is interested in understanding the 8 

implications of the current application on the interim rates that are currently in 9 

place and ENGLP’s position regarding consideration of the assessment of just 10 

and reasonable rates. 11 

Questions:  12 

a) Confirm that under the current proposal in Exhibit A, Exhibit B and Exhibit 13 

C that rates charged would be considered final. If not, please explain. 14 

b) Confirm there has been no review of ENGLP’s (or NRG’s) distribution costs 15 

since EB-2010-0018. 16 

c) Confirm that the costs (amount of rate base, OM&A) approved in EB-2010-17 

0018 continue to form the basis of the current rates. If not please, explain. 18 

Responses: 19 

 20 

a) EPCOR Natural Gas Limited Partnership (EPCOR) confirms that its current 21 

proposal is to finalize rates for the time period October 1, 2016 to December 31, 22 

2019 as outlined in the various exhibits within this proceeding. 23 

b) Confirmed. 24 

c) The costs and resulting revenue requirement approved in EB-2010-0018 form 25 

the basis for current rates.   26 
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IGPC-2 1 

Evidence Reference:  Exhibit A, Exhibit B, Exhibit C 2 

Preamble: IGPC is interested in understanding the implications of the current 3 

application on the interim rates that are currently in place and the dependency of 4 

certain approvals on other relief sought by ENGLP as part of this Application. 5 

Questions:  6 

a) Do all rate classes have to be subjected to the same percentage rate 7 

increase?  Please explain why or why not. 8 

b) Would ENGLP’s financial wherewithal be materially impacted if the 9 

increases sought in Exhibit A, Exhibit B and Exhibit C were not granted?   10 

c) What programs, services or capital projects would be deferred or cancelled 11 

as a result of a denial of the relief sought in Exhibit A, Exhibit B or Exhibit 12 

C? 13 

Responses: 14 

a) Per section 3.2.1.1of the Board’s Filing Requirements for Electricity Distribution 15 

Rate Applications, Chapter 3 - 4th Generation Incentive Rate-setting and Annual 16 

Incentive Rate-setting Index dated July 17, 2013, the annual adjustment 17 

mechanism should apply to distribution rates uniformly across customer rate 18 

classes. This is also consistent with Natural Resource Gas’s (NRG) most 19 

recently approved (EB-2010-0018) incentive rate mechanism. 20 

b) An assessment of the impact of the increases sought on the utility’s financial 21 

wherewithal is not part of the IRM framework and therefore isn’t appropriate for 22 

this application. The assessment of the utility’s revenue sufficiency or deficiency 23 

will be subject to review as part of the next cost of service application. 24 

c) Should the relief sought in Exhibits A, B and C be denied, EPCOR would assess 25 

its programs, services and capital projects at that time.   26 
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IGPC-3 1 

Evidence Reference: Exhibit A, Exhibit B, Exhibit C 2 

Preamble: IGPC understands that ENGLP intends to apply a formulaic approach 3 

to rates that would increase rates using the IRM formula used by electricity 4 

distributors and that the formula incorporates an efficiency or productivity 5 

improvement factor.  IGPC understands that where a distributor chooses to 6 

remain in an IRM formula rather than being subject to a cost of service review or 7 

customized IR that the distributor must apply the worst (largest) efficiency or 8 

productivity factor.   IGPC is interested in understanding how ENGLP’s (and 9 

NRG’s) assessment of its efficiency and the changes in operations, revenues and 10 

costs since EB-2010-0018 to provide some context to the improvements that NRG 11 

and ENGLP have already undertaken and those planned for the next year.  12 

Questions:  13 

a) Has ENGLP, or its predecessor NRG, performed any studies to determine 14 

the efficiency or productivity of its operations? If so, please provide such 15 

studies or reports. 16 

b) What efficiency matters or productivity improvements have been 17 

implemented by NRG/ENGLP since 2011?  Please provide details including 18 

a description of the improvement, when implemented, the savings and 19 

expected persistence of the savings.  20 

c) Please provide a chart(s) with the applicable factors for the IRM formula for 21 

each electricity distributor group, for each year since 2011.  22 

d) What has ENGLP’s, or NRG’s, return on equity (actual and deemed), been 23 

for each of the past 5 years. 24 

e) What has been the historical Full Time Equivalents for ENGLP and its 25 

predecessor for each of the past 7 years. 26 

f) What has been the actual customer count for each rate class for each of 27 

the past 7 years? 28 

g) What has ENGLP’s distribution and other revenue been for each of the past 29 

5 years? 30 

Responses: 31 

a) EPCOR has not performed any such studies and is not aware of any performed 32 

by NRG.  33 

b) EPCOR does not have detailed knowledge of the operations prior to the 34 

transition to EPCOR. Over the last twelve months since the transition to EPCOR 35 

the operational focus has been on integration of the assets to EPCOR’s systems 36 

and processes. 37 
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c)  The OEB establishes productivity and stretch factor components on 5-year 1 

terms. For the years 2009 to 2013, the productivity factor was 0.72% and there 2 

were three stretch factor groups. For the years 2014 to 2018 the productivity 3 

factor was set to 0% and the number of stretch factor groups was changed to 4 

five. In the first period the groupings were based on ranked performance. LDCs 5 

were assigned to quartiles with the middle two quartiles combined into one 6 

group. The groupings were changed in 2014 and were based on performance 7 

relative to predicted costs. Determination of the stretch factor groups for 2014-8 

2019 is outlined in the following OEB table1: 9 

 10 

The inflation, productivity and stretch factors for each group for the time periods 11 

requested are presented below in tables based on the OEB’s 5 year term for 12 

establishing the factors. 13 

2011-2013 Period 14 

 

2011 2012 2013 

Inflation Factor  
Jan *1.3% 1.7% 2.2% 

May 1.3% 2.0% 1.6% 

Productivity Factor 0.72% 0.72% 0.72% 

Stretch Factor  

Quartile 
   1 0.2% 0.2% 0.2% 

2 0.4% 0.4% 0.4% 

3 0.4% 0.4% 0.4% 

4 0.6% 0.6% 0.6% 

IRM Adjustment 

1 0.38% 0.78% 1.28% 

2 0.18% 0.88% 0.48% 

3 0.18% 0.88% 0.48% 

                                                 
1
 EB-2010-0379- Report of the Board Rate Setting Parameters and Benchmarking under the Renewed 

Regulatory Framework for Ontario’s Electricity Distributors, Issued on November 21, 2013 and as 
corrected on December 4, 2013,page 21 
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4 -0.02% 0.68% 0.28% 
*In 2012 and 2013 different inflation factors were provided for January and May application filers. 1 
The IRM adjustments use January inflation factors for those years. Until 2012, the inflation factor 2 
was set in May. The 2011 January inflation factor (1.3%) was set in May 2010.  3 

2014-2018 Period 4 

 

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 

Inflation Factor  1.7% 1.6% 2.1% 1.9% 1.2% 

Productivity Factor 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 

Stretch 
Factor  

Group 
  

  

 1 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 

2 0.15% 0.15% 0.15% 0.15% 0.15% 

3 0.30% 0.30% 0.30% 0.30% 0.30% 

4 0.45% 0.45% 0.45% 0.45% 0.45% 

5 0.60% 0.60% 0.60% 0.60% 0.60% 

IRM 
Adjustment 

1 1.70% 1.60% 2.10% 1.90% 1.20% 

2 1.55% 1.45% 1.95% 1.75% 1.05% 

3 1.40% 1.30% 1.80% 1.60% 0.90% 

4 1.25% 1.15% 1.65% 1.45% 0.75% 

5 1.10% 1.00% 1.50% 1.30% 0.60% 

 5 
The Board has indicated that the productivity factors from the 2014 to 2018 6 

period will continue into 2019 as well as the methodology and process for 7 

establishing the stretch factor groupings2. However, the 2019 inflation and stretch 8 

factors have not yet been established at the time of this response. 9 

 10 

d) The deemed return on equity is the Board allowed return on equity from EB-11 

2010-0018, which was 9.85%3. NRG’s actual annual return on equity as 12 

published in the Board’s Yearbooks of Natural Gas Distributors since 2011 has 13 

been: 14 

Year ROE 

2011 4.44% 

2012 11.38% 

2013 6.96% 

2014 9.33% 

2015 -3.65% 

2016 9.22% 

2017 7.02% 

                                                 
2
 Letter from the Board Secretary to all Licensed Electricity Distributors Re: I. Updated Filing 

Requirements II. Process for 2019 Incentive Regulation Mechanism (IRM) Distribution Rate Applications, 
July, 12, 2018, page 2 
3
 EB-2010-0018 – NRG Draft Rate Order, December 30, 2010, page 3 
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 1 

 2 

e) The historical full time equivalents for the past 7 years are as follows4: 3 

 4 

 5 

f) Actual customer count for each rate class for each of the past 7 years5  are: 6 

Year Rate 1 Rate 2 Rate 3 Rate 4 Rate 5 Rate 6 

2010 6889 66 4 23 5 1 

2011 7013 64 4 23 5 1 

2012 7271 67 4 23 5 1 

2013 7590 65 4 31 5 1 

2014 7895 65 4 33 5 1 

2015 8176 63 4 34 5 1 

2016 8494 60 4 36 5 1 

2017 8538 53 5 36 5 1 

 7 

g) Distribution and other revenue for NRG for each of its past 5 fiscal years (in 8 

thousands of dollars) is as follows6: 9 

Year 

Distribution & 
Transportation 

Revenue Other Revenue 

2013 5991 940 

2014 6602 953 

2015 6707 858 

2016 6502 125 

2017 6856 110 

 10 

11 

                                                 
4
 2011 through 2015 from EB-2016-0236 – Application and Evidence, August 9, 2016, Exhibit 4 Tab 1 

Schedule 2, page 4; 2016 to 2017 as calculated by EPCOR 
5
 2010 through 2015 from EB-2016-0236 – Application and Evidence, August 9, 2016, Exhibit 3 Tab 1 

Schedule 3, page 2; 2016 and 2017 as obtained from NRG’s RRR reporting records. 
6
   2013 through 2015 from EB-2016-0236 – Application and Evidence, August 9, 2016, Exhibit 3 Tab 1 

Schedule 3, page 1; 2016 and 2017 obtained from NRG’s audited Financial Statements for the respective 
years 

Year  FTE 

2011 19.3 

2012 21.5 

2013 21.3 

2014 21.6 

2015 21.4 

2016 21 

2017 20 
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IGPC-4 1 

Evidence Reference: EB-2016-0236, page 254 of 432 in pdf of Application; Exhibit 2 

8, Tab 1, Schedule 3, page 1, Lines 16 to 17; EB-2010-0018 3 

Preamble: IGPC is interested in determining the reasonableness of the current 4 

and proposed rates being applied to IGPC.   IGPC understand that under EB-2016-5 

0236 that the proposed rates for IGPC would have reduced for the then approved 6 

rates.   7 

Questions:   8 

a) Please provide the annual revenue, earned by ENGLP and NRG from Rate 6 9 

since EB-2010-0018. 10 

b) What was the net income of NRG/ENGLP for each year since EB-2010-11 

0018? 12 

c) What was the amount of rate base that formed the basis of Rate Class 6 in 13 

EB-2010-0018? 14 

d) What amounts have been added to the rate base for Rate Class 6 since EB-15 

2010-0018? 16 

e) What is the annual amount of depreciation for Rate Class 6 that was 17 

approved by the Board in EB-2010-0018? 18 

f) What is the amount of rate base for Rate Class 6 for each year since EB-19 

2010-0018. 20 

g) Please provide a table showing the actual and deemed cost of long-term 21 

debt, short-term debt and equity for each year since EB-2010-0018. 22 

h) Has the rate base of Rate Class 1 thru 5 increased since EB-2010-0018? If 23 

so, by approximately how much? 24 

i) Please provide copies of all agreements between ENGLP and IGPC. 25 

Responses: 26 

a) The annual revenue earned by NRG from rate 67 since EB-2010-0018 is: 27 

 28 
29                                                  

7
 2010 through 2015 from EB-2016-0236 – Application and Evidence, August 9, 2016, Exhibit 3 Tab 1 

Schedule 3, page 1; 2016 and 2017 as obtained from NRG’s RRR reporting records. 

Rate 6 Revenue

2010 -                       

2011 1,478,179          

2012 1,485,545          

2013 1,491,329          

2014 1,499,258          

2015 1,531,844          

2016 1,783,621          

2017 1,797,592          
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b) The annual net income for each year since EB-2010-0018 as reported by NRG8 is: 1 

 2 

c) Based on the evidence filed in EB-2010-0018, the rate base that formed the 3 

basis of rate class 6 was the 2011 test year rate base of $4,222,5589 which is 4 

based on an original amount closed to rate base of $4,872,18210. 5 

d) Since EB-2010-0018 the amount that has been added to the rate base for rate 6 6 

up to December 31, 2017 is approximately $70,000. See the response to IGPC-7 

10 for details on work underway for 2018. 8 

e) Based on the evidence filed in EB-2010-0018, the annual amount of depreciation 9 

for rate class 6 that was approved by the Board in EB-2010-0018 is $243,60911 10 

which is based on 5% or a useful life of 20 years. 11 

f) The amount of rate base for rate class 6 for each year since EB-2010-0018 is as 12 

follows:  13 

 14 

g) The deemed cost of debt is as approved in EB-2010-0018 which was 7.67% for 15 

Long-term debt and 2.07% for Short-term debt12. EPCOR does not have 16 

                                                 
8
 Natural Resource Gas Limited’s audited Financial Statements for the respective years 

9
 
 
EB-2010-0018 NRG IR Responses dated January 17, 201, Attachment H, page 1 

10
 EB-2010-0018 NRG IR Responses dated January 17, 201, Attachment H, page 1 

11
 EB-2010-0018 NRG IR Responses dated January 17, 201, Attachment H, page 1 

12
 EB-2010-0018 – NRG Draft Rate Order, December 30, 2010, page 3 

Net Income

2010 549,293              

2011 243,750              

2012 704,815              

2013 463,107              

2014 684,895              

2015 (160,222)            

2016 436,957              

2017 684,083              

Rate Base

2009 4,587,971          

2010 4,466,167          

2011 4,222,558          

2012 3,978,949          

2013 3,735,340          

2014 3,491,731          

2015 3,248,122          

2016 3,011,454          

2017 2,788,844          
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information on NRG’s actual cost of debt beyond what is disclosed in NRG’s 1 

annual financial statements. The notes to NRG’s financial statements indicate 2 

that interest on term notes was at prime and prime plus 0.25%. For information 3 

on return on equity please refer to EPCOR’s response to IGPC 3 d). 4 

h) The rate base for rate classes 1 through 5 has increased by approximately 5 

$950,000 since the rate base for the 2011 test year in EB-2011-0018. 6 

i) The agreements currently in place between EPCOR and IGPC are the Pipeline 7 

Cost Recovery Agreement and the Gas Delivery Agreement, both of which were 8 

assigned to EPCOR as part of the asset purchase transaction. The copies of 9 

these agreements that EPCOR obtained from NRG upon their assignment have 10 

been provided in Attachment 1.   11 
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IGPC-5 1 

Evidence Reference: EB-2016-0236, EB-2010-0018 2 

Preamble: IGPC is interested in determining the reasonableness of the current 3 

rates being applied, and the future rates that are proposed, for IGPC.   IGPC 4 

understand that under EB-2016-0236 that the following: (a)  proposed rates for 5 

IGPC would have reduced for the then approved rates; (b) the percentage of 6 

existing rate base of Rate 6 to total rate base had decreased; (c) the percentage of 7 

income of Rate 6 to total income had decreased; and (d) NRG/ENGLP has 8 

continued to add customers to every category.  IGPC further understands the 9 

ENGLP will need to invest in rate base to reinforce the system to serve other 10 

existing customers. 11 

Questions: 12 

a) What was the amount of the proposed rate reduction that Rate Class 6 13 

would have experienced had the proposal in EB-2016-0235 been approved? 14 

b) What would have been the annual savings to Rate Class 6 had the Board 15 

approved the requested rates in EB-2016-0236 through the period of 16 

October 1, 2016 to January 1, 2020?  17 

c) Please confirm that certain operating, maintenance and administration 18 

costs have been allocated to the various rate classes based upon the 19 

relative contribution to rate base of such class.   20 

d) Please provide for each rate class the operating, maintenance and 21 

administration costs and relative amounts from EB-2010-0018 that were 22 

allocated on basis of rate base. 23 

e) Is part of the delay or basis for the current request the need to develop a 24 

more robust system reinforcement plan to continue to supply ENGLP’s 25 

customers (other than Rate 6) based upon updated system integrity 26 

analyses and plan.  27 

Responses: 28 

a) Based on the evidence filed by NRG in EB-2016-0236 the relief proposed in that 29 

application would have resulted in a reduction of $252,384 for Rate 6: 30 

Proposed Rate13   $1,017,300 31 

Plus Union Gas flow through14    $334,400 32 

Subtotal    $1,351,700 33 

Less Current Rate15              $1,604,084 34 

Net Reduction        $252,384 35 

                                                 
13

 EB-2016-0236 – Application and Evidence, August 9, 2016, Exhibit 9 Tab 2 Schedule 2 
14

 EB-2016-0236 – Application and Evidence, August 9, 2016, Exhibit 8 Tab 1 Schedule 1 
15

 EB-2016-0236 – Application and Evidence, August 9, 2016, Exhibit 9 Tab 2 Schedule 2 
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  1 

b) The annual savings to IGPC as noted in IGPC-5 a) above would have been 2 

adjusted annually by an IR adjustment calculated in accordance with the 3 

approved IR plan from EB-2016-0236. 4 

c) The costs, resulting revenue requirement and associated allocations approved in 5 

EB-2010-0018 form the basis for current rates. The cost allocation model filed in 6 

that proceeding did allocate certain operating, maintenance and administration 7 

expenses to customer classes on the basis of the proportion of rate base 8 

allocated to the classes. 9 

d) As EB-2010-0018 was filed a number of years prior to EPCOR’s ownership of the 10 

assets, information beyond what is publicly available for this filing is not readily 11 

accessible. 12 

e) The basis for EPCOR’s approach to finalizing rates and addressing EB-2016-13 

0236 is a result of EPCOR’s review of EB-2016-0236 and determination that the 14 

filing includes a number of material deficiencies and it cannot simply be revised 15 

and updated to reflect EPCOR’s cost structure as previously thought16. These 16 

deficiencies include lack of a Utility System Plan for the entire distribution system 17 

and the inclusion of a System Integrity Study that in the view of EPCOR does not 18 

adequately address potential solutions to ongoing concerns regarding system 19 

pressure in parts of the distribution system.   20 

                                                 
16

 EB-2016-0236, - EPCOR’s letter to the Board, April 24, 2018 
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IGPC - 6 1 

Evidence Reference: EB-2016-0236  2 

Preamble: In EB-2016-0236, NRG had proposed using the rate base for the 2017 3 

Test Year throughout the IR period. When there is no capital to be spent in a rate 4 

class during the IR period, IGPC is of the view such a rate class can over 5 

contribute to the earnings of the utility through such an IR period. 6 

Questions: 7 

a) Do the Tables below provide an accurate summary of the change in Rate 8 

Base for Rate 6 over the IR period had the proposal by NRG been approved 9 

in EB-2016-0236? Explain? 10 

b) Do the Tables below provide an accurate summary of the change in 11 

Revenue Requirement (Costs Allocated to IGPC) for Rate 6 over the IR 12 

period? Explain. 13 

c) Do the Tables below provide an accurate estimation of the Rate 6 Revenue 14 

Requirement if rates were to be set upon the actual rate base rather than 15 

the inflated 2017 Test Year Rate Base? Explain. 16 

d) Would depreciation actually increase when there are no expenditures on 17 

capital during the period? 18 

 19 
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Responses: 1 

a) The 2017 test year rate base related to IGPC and the annual depreciation 2 

presented in table 2 (“Revised Approach to recognize declining Rate Base”) 3 

above match the amounts filled by NRG in EB-2016-023617. The rate base used 4 

for the purposes of calculating the annual return in table 2 is being calculated as 5 

the ending balance instead of the average for each year as would be done for the 6 

purposes of setting rates; however the calculations in the table appear to 7 

otherwise be mathematically correct. 8 

b) Although the approximately $6,000 related to IGPC’s share of allocable common 9 

costs as identified in EB-2016-0236 are missing from the revenue requirement 10 

calculation, table 1 (‘Costs Allocated to Rate 6 (IGPC)”) above appears to 11 

materially reflect the 2017 amounts filled by NRG in that filing18. The estimated IR 12 

adjustment also appears to be aligned with the proposed IR Plan filed by NRG in 13 

EB-2016-023619.  The calculations in the table appear to be mathematically 14 

correct. 15 

c) See response to IGPC-6 a) and b) above. 16 

d) When depreciation is calculated on assets on a straight-line basis, as is the case 17 

for the IGPC related assets (ethanol pipeline and the IGPC meters), the 18 

depreciation expense would not increase unless there were additions to the 19 

assets or an approved change in the depreciation rate as a result of determining 20 

that the asset(s) had a shorter useful life than originally estimated.  21 

                                                 
17

 EB-2016-0236 – Application and Evidence, August 9, 2016, Exhibit 2 Tab 2 Schedule 1 and Schedule 2 
18

 EB-2016-0236 – Application and Evidence, August 9, 2016, Exhibit 8 Tab 1 Schedule 3 
19

 EB-2016-0236 – Application and Evidence, August 9, 2016, Exhibit 9 Tab 3 Schedule 1 
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IGPC-7 1 

Evidence Reference: EB-2016-0351, E1, T1, S1, page 4, lines 1 to 7; EB-2018-0235, 2 

Exhibit A, Exhibit B, Exhibit C 3 

Preamble: Under the current ENGLP proposal, all customers are being asked to 4 

pay more to ENGLP than current rates. In its application to acquire the assets of 5 

NRG, ENGLP had indicated that customers would pay lower rates than if NRG had 6 

continued to own and operate the distribution company.  7 

Questions: 8 

a) How does ENGLP expect to demonstrate that customers will be better off 9 

with their acquisition of the distribution company when all rate classes are 10 

seeing an increase in rates? Please explain in detail. 11 

b) When will ratepayers expect to start to experience these benefits? 12 

c) Does ENGLP have a rate trajectory that would demonstrate the benefits to 13 

customers to compare its current operation to that of NRG? 14 

Responses: 15 

a) In the evidence referenced above, the applicants had not indicated that 16 

customers would pay lower rates than if NRG had continued to own and operate 17 

the distribution assets but rather that the evidence filed demonstrated that the “no 18 

harm” test applied by the Board in deciding whether or not to grant leave in such 19 

applications was met as NRG’s customers will not be negatively affected by, and 20 

may in fact realize a modest benefit from, the proposed transaction. This was 21 

based on the rationale that EPCOR’s underlying cost structure, the costs to serve 22 

NRG’s customers post-transaction, are not expected to be higher than they 23 

otherwise would have been with NRG.  24 

b) EPCOR’s cost of service application for rates effective January 1, 2020 will 25 

provide evidence in support of a revenue requirement reflective of EPCOR’s 26 

ownership of the system.   27 

c) As EPCOR is still in the process of preparing its cost of service application for 28 

rates effective January 1, 2020, such information is not available.   29 
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IGPC - 8 1 

Ref: EB-2016-0235, Exhibit 2; EB-2010-0018 2 

Preamble: Please confirm that the current application incorporates a 5% 3 

depreciation rate for the Ethanol Pipeline. This is presumably based upon the 4 

Settlement Agreement in EB-2010-0018.  5 

Questions: 6 

a) Confirm the depreciation in EB-2010-0018 for the Ethanol Pipeline was 7 

based upon the Settlement Agreement and set at a rate of 5%. 8 

b) Is ENGLP aware of the depreciation rate used by Union Gas Ltd. or 9 

Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. for steel main or for other natural gas 10 

utilities operated by ENGLP (or its related companies)? If so, please 11 

provide such depreciation rates. 12 

c) Has NRG done any studies, analyses or reviews of the Ethanol Pipeline and 13 

an appropriate depreciation rate based upon the life expectancy of the 14 

asset?  If so, please provide. 15 

Responses: 16 

a) Confirmed. The depreciation rate for the Ethanol Pipeline was set at 5% (20 17 

years) and was based upon Section 4.7 of the Settlement Agreement for EB-18 

2010-0018 dated August 18, 2010. 19 

b) According to evidence filed by Union Gas Limited and Enbridge Gas Distribution 20 

Inc. in their 2011 applications to the Board, the depreciation rates used for steel 21 

mains are as follows:   22 

 Union Gas Limited - rate of 1.98% (50.5 years)20.  23 

 Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. - rate of 1.64% (61 years)21  24 

c) EPCOR is not aware of any studies or reviews of the depreciation rate or life 25 

expectancy of the ethanol pipeline completed by NRG.  26 

                                                 
20 EB-2011-0210 - Application and Evidence,  Exhibit D1, Tab 6, Appendix A, page 2 
21 EB-2011-0354- Application and Evidence, Exhibit D2, Tab 2, Schedule 1 page 36 
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IGPC-9 1 

Evidence Reference:  EB-2018-0235, Exhibit D, page 6 2 

Preamble: IGPC is supportive of establishing a rate structure that is just and 3 

reasonable and reflect the elasticity of costs to be incurred by ENGLP in 4 

providing distribution service to IGPC.  5 

Questions: 6 

a) Please confirm that no other ratepayers would be impacted by the switch to 7 

a fixed monthly rate for Rate 6. 8 

b) Please confirm that under the current proposal the upstream supply by 9 

Union Gas would be fully covered by IGPC and other ratepayers of ENGLP 10 

would not be at risk. 11 

c) Please confirm that this relief can be implemented even without the Board 12 

granting the relief sought in Exhibit A, Exhibit B or Exhibit C.  If you cannot 13 

confirm this, please explain.  14 

d) Please confirm that almost all expenses of ENGLP are independent of the 15 

volume consumed by IGPC.  Which expenses, if any, are related to volume 16 

consumed?  Please provide examples with related amounts.  17 

e) Please confirm that other than the demand costs of Union Gas that all other 18 

cost incurred by ENGLP in respect of providing service to IGPC are 19 

independent of the actual demand of IGPC.  If you cannot confirm this, 20 

please explain with amounts. 21 

f) What are the approximate O&M costs applicable to IGPC in 2017 and 2018? 22 

Please provide a detailed chart.  23 

g) What is the amount ($/unit/month) of the Union Gas charge?  When does 24 

ENGLP expect this amount to change and by how much? 25 

Responses: 26 

a) Confirmed. 27 

b) Under the current proposal all upstream supply costs from Union Gas Limited 28 

associated with supplying gas to IGPC are covered under a separate agreement 29 

between EPCOR and Union Gas Limited. The costs under this agreement would 30 

be fully charged to IGPC under the Gas Delivery Contract between EPCOR and 31 

IGPC. Other ratepayers will not be charged for the costs associated with this 32 

contract.  33 

c) Confirmed. Implementing a fixed rate for IGPC can be done independent of the 34 

relief sought in Exhibits A, B and C. 35 
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d) There is no direct relationship between IGPC’s volume and EPCOR’s operating, 1 

maintenance and administration costs. The only expenses to EPCOR that are 2 

dependent on volumes of IGPC are the amounts paid to Union Gas Limited 3 

under the contracts specific to the IGPC volumes. These charges are treated as 4 

a direct pass-through to IGPC under the Gas Delivery Agreement between 5 

EPCOR and IGPC.  6 

e) Please see response to IGPC-9 d) above. 7 

f) Please see response to IGPC-5 d) above.  8 

g) The contract charges under EPCOR’s M9 contract with Union Gas Limited for  9 

the volumes related to IGPC are made up of the following: 10 

i. Monthly demand charge of 23.5428 cents per m3 based on a 11 

monthly firm contract demand of 208,800 m3. 12 

ii. Delivery commodity charge of 0.1569 cents per m3 13 

The M9 contract also includes provisions for overrun charges (authorized and 14 

unauthorized) for volumes in excess of 103% of the contracted rights, and IGPC 15 

is responsible for any such charges incurred. 16 

EPCOR’s Bundled T contract with Union Gas Limited related to IGPC’s volumes 17 

does not have specified rates or amounts, however all charges from Union to 18 

EPCOR under this agreement are a direct pass through to IGPC in accordance 19 

with the Gas Delivery Agreement (i.e. such as recovery of excessive 20 

transactional costs related to balancing).   21 

The delivery commodity charge in the M9 contract is based on Union Gas 22 

Limited’s most recent approved QRAM filing and would change with each 23 

approved QRAM. The term of the current M9 contract ends on June 30, 2019 24 

and the monthly demand rates may change at that time. EPCOR does not have 25 

an estimate of what the delivery commodity charge would be in Union Gas 26 

Limited’s next QRAM or for the monthly demand charge or associated firm 27 

contracted demand upon renewal of the M9 contract.    28 
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IGPC-10 1 

Evidence Reference: EB-2018-0235, page 5 2 

Preamble: ENGLP has indicated that it is planning to invest approximately 3 

$600,000 in capital in 2018 to serve IGPC’s increased consumption. 4 

Questions:  5 

a) Please provide a status of the capital expenditure referenced above and 6 

planned for 2018 in respect of IGPC? 7 

b) What is the current forecast of the amount of capital expenditure in 2019 to 8 

be made for serving IGPC?  9 

c) What is the amount that has been spent year to date in this regard? 10 

d) Which rate year, and how much, will those amounts be recorded? 11 

e) What is the approximate impact such an expenditure would have on 12 

ENGLP’s revenue requirement in a cost of service rate application? Please 13 

show the calculation 14 

f) Has IGPC begun to operate its expanded facility? 15 

g) Have you started to invoice IGPC for the additional volumes? If so, how 16 

much? 17 

Responses: 18 

a) EPCOR’s capital expenditures for 2018 required to serve IGPC’s increased 19 

consumption include a station replacement forecasted at $600,000 and the 20 

pigging installation project forecasted at $50,000 for total forecasted 2018 21 

spending of $650,000. These projects are moving forward in the fourth quarter of 22 

2018. The projects are forecasted to be fully completed prior to the end of 23 

November 2018 and put into service by the end of 2018. At the time of filing 24 

these responses, no amounts have been spent on these projects. 25 

b) The only capital project planned for 2019 relates to a Ministry of Transportation 26 

project which requires EPCOR to replace three sections of the IGPC pipeline that 27 

interfere with the Ministry’s interchange and bridge replacement project. Early 28 

project estimates are between $600,000 and $700,000. Final figures are 29 

expected once the competitive bidding process has been completed in early 30 

2019. 31 

c) Please see response to IGPC-10 a). 32 

d) Please see response to IGPC-10 a). 33 
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e) The approximate impact of the forecasted $650,000 in capital expenditures 1 

described in a) above would be as follows: 2 

 3 

For the purposes of the above calculations the following cost of capital 4 

parameters have been used which are based on the most recent cost of capital 5 

parameters (allowed return and deemed debt) from the Board: 6 

 7 

f) IGPC began operating some aspects of its expanded facility after its plant 8 

shutdown in late September 2018 and volumes have begun increasing since that 9 

time. IGPC has indicated to EPCOR that the consumption volumes will continue 10 

to increase as various pieces of the expansion equipment are brought online.  11 

g) EPCOR continues to bill IGPC based on the rate structure as developed in EB-12 

2010-0018 and per EPCOR’s most recent approved rate order. As described on 13 

page 5 of Exhibit D these charges include a monthly delivery charge which is a $ 14 

per m3 charge. Any volumes consumed to date would have been billed based on 15 

this rate. However, as IGPC’s consumption has always been variable, EPCOR 16 

cannot quantify how much of the volumes billed to date are resulting from the 17 

expansion.      18 

2018 2019 2020 2021

Incremental Rate Base Impacts

PP&E, Beginning of year -           650,000     1,050,000 1,050,000 

Capital Additions 650,000  400,000     

PP&E, end of year 650,000  1,050,000 1,050,000 1,050,000 

Accumulated Depreciation, beginning of year -           16,250       58,750       111,250     

Depreciation Expense (20 year life) 16,250    42,500       52,500       52,500       

Accumulated Depreciation, end of year 16,250    58,750       111,250     163,750     

Mid-Year Rate Base 316,875  812,500     965,000     912,500     

Incremental Revenue Requirement Impact

Depreciation Expense 16,250    42,500       52,500       52,500       

Return on rate base 19,080    48,922       58,105       54,943       

35,330    91,422      110,605    107,443    

Capital Rates of Weighted

Weighted Average Cost of Capital Structure Return Return

Short-term debt 4% 2.29% 0.09%

Long-term debt 56% 4.16% 2.33%

Total debt 60% 2.42%

Equity 40% 9.00% 3.60%

100% 6.02%
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IGPC-11 1 

Evidence Reference: EB-2018-0235, Exhibit E, page 5 and 6 2 

Preamble: The credit balance for Rate Class 6 is $544,304 which includes 3 

$43,734.  IGPC is interested in the disposition of the PGTVA and REDA Variance 4 

accounts. 5 

Questions: 6 

a) Please confirm the amounts to be disposed of have been audited and as of 7 

which date was the audit completed.   8 

b) Does ENGLP have the funds currently available to repay the amounts that 9 

are to be disposed of in this Application. 10 

c) Please confirm the request in Exhibit E is independent of the requests in 11 

Exhibit A, Exhibit B, Exhibit C, and Exhibit D.  If not confirmed, please 12 

explain.  13 

d) Please provide a copy of NRG’s audited financial statements for the fiscal 14 

years ending September 30, 2016 and September 30, 2017. 15 

e) Please provide any audited financial statements for the period since 16 

September 30, 2017.  If none are available, please provide any unaudited 17 

available statements.   18 

Responses: 19 

a) The amounts to be disposed of are the September 30, 2017 balances, and 20 

Natural Resource Gas Limited financial statements for the period ending 21 

September 30, 2017 were audited. 22 

b) Yes. 23 

c) Confirmed. 24 

d) NRG’s audited financial statements for the fiscal years ending September 30, 25 

2016 and September 30, 2017 have been provided as Attachment 2.  26 

e) EPCOR Natural Gas Limited Partnership’s audited financial statements for the 27 

fiscal year ending December 31, 2017 has been provided in Attachment 3. These 28 

statements comprise the two-month period of operations since the assets were 29 

acquired from NRG on November 1, 2017.  30 
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Agreements in place between EPCOR and IGPC  2 
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ATTACHMENT 2 as associated with IGPC 11 1 

Natural Resource Gas Limited’s audited financial statements for the fiscal years 2 

ending September 30, 2016 and September 30, 2017  3 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Shareholders of Natural Resource Gas Limited 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Natural Resource Gas Limited, which comprise the
balance sheet as at September 30, 2016 and the statements of deficit and cash flow for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
Canadian accounting standards for private enterprises, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from  material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted our audit
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Those standards require that we comply with
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified
audit opinion. 

Basis for Qualified Opinion

The Company has issued and outstanding Class C shares with a redemption value of $13,461,418. Canadian
accounting standards for private enterprises require that the company present and classify shares that are retractable
at the option of the shareholder as a liability on the balance sheet unless the shares were issued under certain income
tax planning arrangements. The Company has presented these shares as part of shareholders' equity. If the shares
were classified as liabilities, then the total liabilities as at September 30, 2015 and as at September 30, 2016 would
increase by $13,461,418 and share capital would decrease by $13,461,418.

(continues)

 



Qualified Opinion 

In our opinion, except that the Class C shares of the Company have been presented as part of shareholders' equity
rather than as a liability, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Company as at September 30, 2016 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for then ended in accordance
with Canadian Accounting standards for private enterprises. 

London, Ontario Chartered Professional Accountants
November 15, 2016  Licensed Public Accountants
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED

Balance Sheet

September 30, 2016

2016 2015
Restated (Note 4)

ASSETS

CURRENT
Accounts receivable (Notes 10, 14, 17) $ 798,547 $ 910,360
Income taxes recoverable 14,501 -
Taxes other than income taxes recoverable 127,634 9,123
Inventory 58,418 42,991
Prepaid expenses 11,808 205,113
Assets related to discontinued operations (Note 5) - 13,397

1,010,908 1,180,984

Property, plant and equipment (Note 6) 12,699,156 10,952,124

Franchises and consents (Note 7) 448,294 452,378

Deferred charges (Note 8) 723,744 1,046,859

Future income taxes 345,000 332,500

$ 15,227,102 $ 13,964,845

 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
3



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED

Balance Sheet

September 30, 2016

2016 2015
Restated (Note 4)

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

CURRENT
Bank indebtedness (Note 9) $ 501,838 $ 301,383
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Notes 10, 13) 1,948,855 2,185,173
Income taxes payable - 101,933
Customer deposits 117,153 134,340
Deferred revenue 48,418 121,402
Future income taxes 214,000 440,000
Term notes payable (Note 11) 7,018,053 5,372,191

9,848,317 8,656,422

Accounts payable due beyond one year (Note 14) 639,423 1,006,017

10,487,740 9,662,439

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Share capital (Note 12) 13,461,439 13,461,439
Deficit (8,722,077) (9,159,033)

4,739,362 4,302,406

$ 15,227,102 $ 13,964,845

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (Note 18)   

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

_____________________________ Director

_____________________________ Director

 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED

Statement of Deficit

Year Ended September 30, 2016

2016 2015
Restated (Note 4)

DEFICIT - BEGINNING OF YEAR

As previously reported $ (9,159,034) $ (6,119,116)

Prior period adjustment (Note 4) - 480,448

As restated (9,159,034) (5,638,668)

Net income (loss) for the year 436,957 (20,365)

(8,722,077) (5,659,033)

Dividends paid - (3,500,000)

DEFICIT - END OF YEAR $ (8,722,077) $ (9,159,033)

 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED

Statement of Income

Year Ended September 30, 2016

 2016 2015
Restated (Note 4)

Gas commodity revenue $ 3,841,812 $ 5,830,818
Gas commodity cost (3,833,916) (5,821,334)

Gross margin on commodity 7,896 9,484

 
Distribution revenue 6,502,192 6,697,276
Distribution costs (824,267) (863,229)

Gross margin on distribution 5,677,925 5,834,047

 
Other sales 13,363 30,772
Labour and materials costs related to other sales (4,644) (16,526)

8,719 14,246

TOTAL GROSS MARGIN 5,694,540 5,857,777

 
OPERATING EXPENSES (Schedule 1) 5,166,129 6,033,314

INCOME (LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS 528,411 (175,537)

 
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES)
Other revenue 112,046 142,557
Interest income on investments - 31,038
Losses on disposal of investments - (2,622,625)

112,046 (2,449,030)

INCOME (LOSS) FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEFORE TAXES 640,457 (2,624,567)

 
INCOME TAXES (RECOVERY)
Current income taxes 442,000 14,000
Future income taxes (238,500) (346,200)

203,500 (332,200)

INCOME (LOSS) FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 436,957 (2,292,367)

Gain on disposal of discontinued operations (net of income tax)(Note 5) - 1,869,582
Income related to discontinued operations (net of income tax) (Note 5) - 402,420

TOTAL INCOME FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS - 2,272,002

NET INCOME (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR $ 436,957 $ (20,365)

 

 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED

Statement of Cash Flow

Year Ended September 30, 2016

2016 2015
Restated (Note 4)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
 Net Income (loss) for the year $ 436,957 $ (20,365)
 Items not affecting cash:

 Amortization of property, plant and equipment 1,015,033 1,029,382
 Gain on disposal of assets related to discontinued operations - (1,869,582)
 Loss on disposal of investments - 2,622,625
 Amortization of franchises and consents, and deferred charges 96,444 103,304
 Amortization of regulatory charges 141,477 141,500
 Future income taxes (238,500) (346,200)

 1,451,411 1,660,664
Changes in non-cash working capital (Note 16)  (638,339) 1,476,330

 Cash flow from operating activities 813,072 3,136,994

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
 Additions to property, plant and equipment (2,748,667) (755,044)
 Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment - 55,110
 Proceeds on disposal of assets related to discontinued operations - 3,175,287
 Additions to deferred charges - (74,601)
 Additions to franchise and consents (30,722) (39,047)
 Proceeds on franchise and consents 120,000 -
 Proceeds from sale of investments - 8,073,730
 Purchases of investments - (10,696,356)

 Cash flow used by investing activities (2,659,389) (260,921)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
 Dividends paid - (3,500,000)
 Advances from term notes payable 2,000,000 -
 Repayments of term notes payable (354,138) (345,804)

 Cash flow from (used by) financing activities 1,645,862 (3,845,804)

DECREASE IN CASH (200,455) (969,731)

Cash (bank indebtedness) - beginning of year (301,383) 668,348

BANK INDEBTEDNESS - END OF YEAR $ (501,838) $ (301,383)

 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended September 30, 2016

1. NATURE OF BUSINESS    

The Company operates as a rate regulated, natural gas distribution utility and operates within a limited area of
Southwestern Ontario under franchise agreements that are approved by the Ontario Energy Board (OEB).

The utility operations are subject to regulations under The Ontario Energy Board Act and The Energy Act
(Ontario).  Revenue rate schedules are approved periodically by the OEB and are designed to permit a fair and
reasonable return to the Company on the utility investment.  Realization of the allowed rate of return is subject
to actual operating conditions experienced during the year.

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION    

The financial statements were prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for private
enterprises (ASPE). ASPE are part of Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).

Such accounting principles may differ for regulated entities from those otherwise expected in non-regulated
entities.  These differences occur when the OEB renders their decisions on the Company's rate applications and
generally involve the timing of revenue and expense recognition to ensure that the Company has achieved a
proper matching of revenues and expenses, and as a result the Company records assets and liabilities that would
not have been recorded under ASPE for non-regulated entities.  

In addition to defining certain accounting requirements, the OEB has jurisdiction over a number of other
matters, which include the rates to be charged for the distribution of gas and approval and recovery of costs for
major construction and operations.

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES         

Revenue recognition 

The Company recognizes revenues when gas has been delivered or services have been performed.  Gas
distribution revenues are recorded on the basis of regular meter readings and estimates of customer usage since
the last meter reading to the end of the reporting period. 

A significant portion of the Company's operations are subject to regulation and accordingly there are
circumstances where the revenues recognized do not match the amounts billed.  Revenue is recognized in a
manner consistent with the underlying rate setting mechanism as mandated by the OEB.  This may give rise to
regulatory deferral accounts on the balance sheet (included in accounts receivable or accounts payable and
accrued liabilities) pending disposition by a decision of the OEB.

Revenue on sales not subject to rate regulations are recognized when goods have been delivered or services
have been performed.

Investment revenue is recognized as income when the dividends and interest is received.  Gains or losses are
recorded upon disposal of investments.

Cash 

Cash consists of cash on hand and bank account balances, with adjustments for outstanding cheques or deposits
at year-end.

(continues)
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended September 30, 2016

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Inventory      

Inventory consists of materials used for the service of existing gas pipelines and the addition of new gas
pipelines.  Inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value with cost being determined on a
first-in, first-out basis.  Net realizable value is defined as replacement cost.

Franchises and consents 

Costs associated with acquiring municipal franchises and other consents are capitalized when incurred, if the
franchise application is successful.  These costs are amortized on a straight line basis over the term of the
franchise.

These assets are tested for an impairment in value when events or circumstances indicate that an asset might be
impaired. The assets are tested for impairment by comparing their carrying value to estimates of their fair value.
Fair value is based on estimates of discounted future cash flows or other valuation methods. When the fair
value is determined to be less than carrying value, the resulting impairment is reported in the income statement.

Deferred charges 

Certain costs, required or permitted by the OEB, have been deferred for recovery from future revenues.  The
period of recovery for these deferrals has been or will be determined by decisions of the OEB, and will
determine the classification of these charges in the financial statements.

Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment is recorded at cost, including associated labour and overhead costs.
Expenditures which substantially increase the useful life of existing pipeline installations and additions to the
pipeline are capitalized. Such expenditures include material, labour and overhead. Maintenance and repairs
which do not extend the useful life of pipeline installations are charged to income.

Pursuant to the regulations of the OEB on the disposal of property, plant, and equipment that is subject to rate
regulation, the company transfers the original cost of the retired assets, plus any related removal costs and net
of any proceeds on disposition, to accumulated amortization. Proceeds from disposition are credited to
accumulated amortization.  This effectively credits gains, or charges losses on disposition to accumulated
amortization.

For disposals of major property, plant and equipment and for those assets not subject to rate regulation, gains or
losses are included in current earnings.

The company has reviewed its long-lived assets and determined there exists no asset retirement obligation as of
September 30, 2016.

(continues)
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended September 30, 2016

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Amortization       

Pursuant to the periodic review and approval by the OEB of amortization rates, amortization is calculated on
the total gross cost of each asset category at the end of the year, rather than on an asset specific basis.  Property,
plant and equipment are amortized at the following rates and methods listed below:

 
Buildings 2% straight-line method
Machinery and equipment 7% to 9% declining balance method
Automotive equipment 17% straight-line method
Computer equipment and

software
20% to 33% declining balance method

Furniture and fixtures 7% straight-line method
Meters and regulators 3% to 17% straight-line method
Pipeline installations 3% to 5% straight-line method

Pursuant to the approval of the OEB, the company changes its amortization rates for the various categories of
property, plant and equipment as well as for franchises and consents based upon OEB Rate Case filings.  Any
such changes in estimate are applied on a prospective basis.

Future income taxes  

Income taxes are reported using the future income taxes method, as follows: current income tax expense is the
estimated income taxes payable for the current year after any refunds or the use of losses incurred in previous
years, and future income taxes reflect:

 � the temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for accounting purposes
and the amounts used for tax purposes;

 � the benefit of unutilized tax losses that will more likely than not be realized and carried forward to
future years to reduce income taxes.

Future income taxes are estimated using the rates enacted by tax law and those substantively enacted for the
years in which future income taxes assets are likely to be realized, or future income tax liabilities settled. The
effect of a change in tax rates on future income tax assets and liabilities is included in earnings in the period
when the change is substantively enacted.

Gas commodity costs and gas transportation costs 

Gas commodity costs and gas transportation costs are recorded using prices approved by the OEB in the
determination of customers sales rates.  Differences between the OEB approved reference prices and those
costs actually incurred are deferred in accounts receivable or accounts payable for consideration in future rate
adjustments or disposition subject to the approval of the OEB.  In a non-regulated environment periodic
variances between gas commodity sales rates and costs or gas transportation costs would be reported through
the income statement annually without the use of deferral accounts.

(continues)
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended September 30, 2016

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments policy   

Financial instruments are recorded at fair value when acquired or issued. In subsequent periods, financial assets
with actively traded markets are reported at fair value, with any unrealized gains and losses reported in income.
All other financial instruments are reported at amortized cost, and tested for impairment at each reporting date. 

Transaction costs on the acquisition, sale, or issue of financial instruments are expensed when incurred.
However, financial instruments that will not be subsequently measured at fair value are adjusted by the
transaction costs that are directly attributable to their original issuance or assumption.

Measurement uncertainty 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian ASPE requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses
during the period. Such estimates are periodically reviewed and any adjustments necessary are reported in
earnings in the period in which they become known. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

4. PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT    

During the year, the company determined that an error had been made in the calculation of certain of its
regulatory account balances between 2011 and 2015, which required adjustment retroactively.  As a result of
this adjustment, accounts payable decreased by $844,305 as at September 30, 2015 (2014 - accounts receivable
increased by $653,448), future income tax liability increased by $224,000 (2014 - $173,000) and deficit
decreased by $620,305 (2014 - $480,448).  For the year ended September 30, 2015, expenses decreased by
$190,857, future income tax recovery decreased by $51,000, and net income for the year increased by
$139,857.  This matter is currently pending approval from the OEB (Note 14).

5. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS    

The Company has sold its water heater sales and rental division during the September 30, 2015 fiscal year. The
water heater sales and rental division was sold as an operating unit on July 1, 2015 with operations ceasing June
30, 2015. The Company completed the sale prior to the September 30, 2015 fiscal year end for the majority of
the assets related to this division. The following assets and liabilities of the water heater sales and rentals
division  have been reported as assets of discontinued operations:

2016 2015

Assets of discontinued operations:
Inventory $ - $ 13,397

Total assets of discontinued operations $ - $ 13,397

The income from discontinued operations in the statement of operations is reported net of related income tax
expense of NIL (2015 - $402,420).
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended September 30, 2016

6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT           
2016 2015

Cost Accumulated Net book Net book
amortization value value

Land $ 71,700 $ - $ 71,700 $ 71,700
Buildings 687,374 243,694 443,680 458,940
Machinery and equipment 883,818 637,595 246,223 170,026
Automotive equipment 372,964 254,466 118,498 (2,428)
Computer equipment and software 682,343 448,430 233,913 61,737
Furniture and fixtures 112,536 82,485 30,051 35,183
Meters and regulators 3,985,707 2,227,002 1,758,705 1,852,809
Pipeline installations 18,678,566 8,882,180 9,796,386 8,304,157

$ 25,475,008 $ 12,775,852 $ 12,699,156 $ 10,952,124

Included in pipeline installations above is $1,425,380 of pipeline in progress at September 30, 2016 (2015 -
$NIL) which is not being amortized.

7. FRANCHISES AND CONSENTS       
2016 2015

Franchises and consents $ 709,289 $ 678,567
Accumulated amortization (260,995) (226,189)

 $ 448,294 $ 452,378

8. DEFERRED CHARGES          

2016 2015

Deferred charges (see note below) $ 924,664 $ 1,044,663
Rates application costs 282,977 282,977
Less:  Accumulated amortization (483,897) (280,781)

$ 723,744 $ 1,046,859

Deferred charges consist of amounts ordered by the OEB to be paid on behalf of  a customer.  Deferred charges
are amortized over 15 years on a straight line basis.

Rates applications costs are deferred and amortized on a straight line basis over the time period for which the
application applies.  These costs are fully amortized as of September 30, 2016.

9. OPERATING LINE OF CREDIT    

The Company has an operating line of credit in the amount of $1,000,000 which it obtained in conjunction with
the term notes, with interest at the Bank's Prime Rate on any advances.

The continuation of the above credit facilities is subject to annual review by the Bank.  These credit facilities
are secured by the security agreement in place as disclosed in note 11.
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended September 30, 2016

10. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS   

Included in accounts receivable are amounts receivable from related companies of $140,034 (2015 - $7,710).

Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities are amounts payable to related companies of $NIL (2015 -
$50,040).

During the year, management fees of $457,020 (2015 - $457,020) were paid to a related company.

During the year, the Company purchased gas in the amount of $483,371 (2015 - $643,573) from a related
company.

During the year, maintenance charges of $6,000 (2015 - $6,000) were charged to a related company.

During the year, the Company paid pipeline construction costs of $1,270,256 (2015 - $NIL) to a related
company.

During the year, the Company agreed to provide credit facilities to a related party up to a maximum of
$2,000,000 with interest charged at 1% per annum on the outstanding balance. The credit facility was utilized
during the year, however no balance is outstanding on the facility at September 30, 2016.  Interest earned on
advances made under the credit facility amount to $2,796.

Related companies are companies controlled, directly or indirectly, by trusts, where the beneficiaries of the
trusts are common to both trusts, but the trustee or group of trustees which exercise control over any of the
related parties are different than the group of trustees of the trust which controls Natural Resource Gas Limited.

These transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange amount, which is
the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended September 30, 2016

11. TERM NOTES PAYABLE         
2016 2015

Bank of Nova Scotia term note payable, maturing on June 30, 2017
(matured on June 30, 2016 and extended with identical terms),
interest at bank prime plus 0.25%, repayable in monthly payments
of $12,386 plus interest, due on demand $ 2,167,500 $ 2,316,132

Bank of Nova Scotia term note payable, maturing on November 30,
2016, interest at bank prime, repayable in monthly payments of
$16,431 plus interest, due on demand 2,858,887 3,056,059

Bank of Nova Scotia term note payable, maturing on June 30, 2017,
interest at bank prime plus 0.25%, repayable in monthly payments
of $8,333 plus interest, due on demand 1,991,666 -

$ 7,018,053 $ 5,372,191

The company has pledged the following as security against the term notes payable, the operating line of credit,
and the revolving line of credit (note 9):

a)  General assignment of book debts

b)  General Security Agreement over all of the present and future personal property and undertaking of the
company

c)  Security under Section 427 of the Bank Act with appropriate insurance coverage assigned to the Bank

d)  Postponement of dividends and share redemption payments by the Class C shareholders

e)  Demand Debenture for $15,000,000 secured by a first fixed and floating charge over all assets
including, but not limited to, the Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity and all Municipal
Franchise Agreements, with replacement cost fire insurance coverage, loss if any, payable to the Bank as
mortgagee.

The term notes payable, the operating line of credit, and the revolving line of credit include the following
covenants that the company must meet:

1. maintain a debt service coverage ratio of 1.25:1 or better; and 

2. maintain a ratio of debt to tangible net worth of 3.0 or less; and

3. annual capital expenditures of $3.0 million or less for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2016 and
reducing to $1.5 million annually thereafter. 

At September 30, 2016, the company was in compliance with these covenants. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended September 30, 2016

12. SHARE CAPITAL           

Authorized:
Unlimited Unlimited Class A shares, non-voting, redeemable and retractable at the paid up amount, with

non-cumulative dividends
Unlimited Unlimited Class B shares, participating, non-voting, with non-cumulative dividends ranking

pari passu with common shares on dissolution
Unlimited Unlimited Class C shares non-voting, with  preferential 7% non-cumulative dividends

redeemable and retractable at $100 per share
Unlimited Unlimited Class Z  shares voting, redeemable and retractable at $1 per share, with no

dividend entitlement 
Unlimited Unlimited number of common shares

2016 2015

Issued:    
50,000 Class A shares $ 1 $ 1

10 Class B shares 10 10
134,614 Class C shares 13,461,418 13,461,418

10 Class Z shares 10 10

 $ 13,461,439 $ 13,461,439

13. GAS IMBALANCES    

The Company, in the normal course of its operations experiences imbalances in the quantity of gas purchased
and the quantities of gas consumed and provides the gas balancing services to customers.  The company records
the net liability (or net asset) associated with gas imbalance volumes.

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities include $161,897 (2015 - $138,891) related to gas imbalances.
Natural gas volumes owed from the Company are valued at the natural gas reference price as approved by the
OEB as of the balance sheet dates. 
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended September 30, 2016

14. REGULATORY MATTERS    

The Company's distribution rates are approved by the OEB.  The Company's commodity rates are approved by
the OEB and adjusted on a quarterly basis based on commodity price forecasts.  The difference between the
approved and the actual cost of gas incurred in the current period is deferred for future recovery subject to
approval by the OEB.  

During the year, the company determined that an error had been made in the calculation of certain of its
regulatory account balances between 2011 and 2015.  The company has made a submission to the OEB to
allow the retroactive application of the correct calculations.  The matter is currently being reviewed by the
OEB, with a decision expected within 12 months after year-end.  The company expects to be successful in its
application for retroactive adjustment, and therefore has reflected the calculation error retroactively as a prior
period adjustment (note 4).

During a prior year, Union Gas charged the Company $2,007,250 for the shortfall of the winter checkpoint.
This was later reduced from a Decision and Order made by the OEB to $1,287,548.  During the current year,
the OEB issued a Decision and Order on this matter which confirmed the amount of the allowable charge by
Union Gas.  The Decision and Order allowed $181,531 of this to be recoverable through the commodity
variance account, while the remaining $1,106,016 was not to be recovered through rates.  The Decision and
Order sets out the terms of payment of the charge to Union Gas, which will be repayable over multiple years
based on operating results of the Company.  Therefore, a portion of this liability has been classified as long
term.

The Company has a matter before the OEB relating to the allowable natural gas price it can recover from
natural gas purchased from a related party.  The OEB is currently seeking additional information prior to
making a ruling on this matter. 

During the year, the OEB issued Decision and Orders which approved a new franchise agreement with a
municipality for a period of 20 years, retroactive to the expiry date of the previous interim orders. 

Accounting principles differ for regulated entities from those otherwise expected in non-regulated entities.
These differences occur when the regulatory agencies render their decisions on the Company's rate applications
and generally involve the timing of revenue and expense recognition to ensure that the Company has achieved a
proper matching of revenues and expenses, and as a result the Company records assets and liabilities that would
not have been recorded under ASPE for non-regulated entities.  The following balances are a direct result of
rate regulatory matters:

Included in accounts payable is $95,250 (2015 - $368,000) resulting from the regulated ratemaking process
that may not be recorded under ASPE in the absence of rate regulation.  The Company estimates that this
amount will be settled in the upcoming year.

In the absence of rate-regulation, some of the above balances would be recognized in the income statement
of the organization.  As a result, net income from operations would be decreased by $984,000 (2015 -
increased by $1,774,000).

In the absence of rate-regulation, the Company's current future income tax liability would be lower by
$214,000 (2015 - $216,000) as a result of the elimination of the regulatory amounts included in accounts
payable and accounts receivable.
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended September 30, 2016

15. CAPITAL LOSSES FOR INCOME TAX CARRIED FORWARD    

In the prior year, the company incurred a capital loss of $2,622,625 which is available for application against
future years' capital gains, with no expiry date. This amount has been included in the calculation of future
income tax assets and liabilities.

16. CHANGES IN NON-CASH WORKING CAPITAL         
2016 2015

Accounts receivable $ 111,813 $ 2,078,886
Taxes other than income taxes payable/recoverable (118,511) (9,394)
Inventory (15,425) 49,230
Prepaid expenses 193,305 (131,143)
Assets related to discontinued operations - 10,915
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (236,322) (1,030,919)
Income taxes payable (116,434) 2,470
Customer deposits (17,187) (1,029)
Deferred revenue (72,984) 2,735
Accounts payable due beyond one year (366,594) 504,579

$ (638,339) $ 1,476,330

17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS      

The Company is exposed to various risks through its financial instruments.  The following analysis provides
information about the Company's risk exposure and concentration. There have been no significant changes to
the nature or concentration of these risks from the prior year, unless otherwise stated. 

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by
failing to discharge an obligation.  The  Company is exposed to credit risk from customers.  In order to reduce
its credit risk, the Company reviews a new customer's credit history before extending credit and conducts
regular reviews of its existing customers' credit performance.  The Company has the ability to take security
deposits if there are payment issues, and charge interest and penalties on any late payments.  The Company has
a significant number of customers which minimizes concentration of credit risk. 

An allowance for doubtful accounts is established based upon factors surrounding the credit risk of specific
accounts, historical trends and other information. The allowance for doubtful accounts was $212,580 at
September 30, 2016 (2015 - $207,016).

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial
liabilities.  The Company manages its liquidity risk by forecasting its cash needs on a regular basis and seeking
additional information based on those forecasts.  The Company's objective is to generate sufficient cash from
its operations to meet its financial obligations. The Company also maintains available credit facilities as
described in note 9 to support the liquidity requirements of the business. 

(continues)

 

17



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended September 30, 2016

17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market prices.  Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and other
price risk.

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk to the company's earnings that arise from fluctuations of foreign exchange rates.  The
company was exposed to currency risk on the short-term investments it held during the prior year. As of
September 30, 2016 and throughout the fiscal year, it did not hold financial instruments denominated in a
foreign currency.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates.    The Company is exposed to interest rate risk primarily through its
term notes payable and lines of credit as they bear interest at a fluctuating bank prime rate related interest rate.
Additionally, the Company earns interest or is charged interest on its regulatory amounts receivable or amounts
payable at the interest rate prescribed by the OEB, which is subject to adjustment on a quarterly basis.

Included in other revenue is interest income of $5,190 (2015 - $64,350) earned on regulatory balances and
charged on late payments.

Other price risk

Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), whether
those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors
affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market.  The Company is exposed to other price risk
through its natural gas prices.  

The Company has entered into several material contracts for the supply of natural gas.  The Company employs
established policies and procedures in order to manage the risk associated with the market fluctuations of
natural gas prices.  The Company, through the rate regulations imposed by the OEB, is effectively allowed to
fully recover its costs, reasonably incurred, and as such the ratepayers, and not the Company, are ultimately
exposed to the risk of these market fluctuations.

18. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS     

Subsequent to year-end, the company signed an Asset Purchase Agreement (the "Agreement") to sell the
natural gas distribution utility assets including all franchises and consents, which constitute substantially all of
the assets of the Company, along with the purchaser assuming certain liabilities related to the utility business as
outlined in the Agreement.  The purchase price is subject to a number of working capital and purchase price
adjustments, and will be paid in full on the closing date.

The closing date for this transaction has not yet been set, since it is subject to the necessary regulatory
approvals.  However the transaction is expected to close prior to August 31, 2017.
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED

Schedule of Operating Expenses (Schedule 1)

Year Ended September 30, 2016

 2016 2015

Salaries and benefits $ 1,586,426 $ 1,459,506
Amortization of property, plant and equipment 1,015,033 891,475
Property taxes 540,380 533,094
Management fees (Note 10) 457,020 457,020
Professional fees 411,548 263,519
Office 212,649 207,167
Ontario Energy Board hearings and regulatory charges 191,958 225,356
Insurance 169,767 174,538
Interest on term notes payable 151,668 165,643
Repairs and maintenance 117,133 172,847
Amortization of franchises and consents and deferred charges 96,444 103,304
Interest expense 52,806 18,784
Vehicle 49,027 65,516
Gas commodity costs (Note 14) 47,670 1,214,101
Bad debts 44,957 37,166
Advertising 43,289 62,640
Utilities 9,205 10,765

5,196,980 6,062,441
Equipment expenses capitalized to pipeline installations (19,637) (18,482)
Amortization capitalized to pipeline installations (11,214) (10,645)

$ 5,166,129 $ 6,033,314

 

 

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Shareholders of Natural Resource Gas Limited

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Natural Resource Gas Limited, which comprise the balance sheet as
at September 30, 2017 and the statements of deficit and cash flow for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Canadian
accounting standards for private enterprises, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Natural Resource Gas
Limited as at September 30, 2017 and the results of its operations and  its cash flow for the year then ended in accordance with
Canadian accounting standards for private enterprises.

London, Ontario Chartered Professional Accountants
March 20, 2018  Licensed Public Accountants



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED

Balance Sheet

September 30, 2017

2017 2016

ASSETS

CURRENT
Accounts receivable (Notes 3, 9, 15) $ - $ 798,547
Income taxes recoverable - 14,501
Taxes other than income taxes recoverable 1,790 127,634
Inventory (Note 3) - 58,418
Prepaid expenses (Note 3) - 11,808
Assets held for sale (Note 3) 14,745,363 -
Future income taxes 1,200,000 -

15,947,153 1,010,908

Property, plant and equipment (Notes 3, 5) - 12,699,156

Franchises and consents (Notes 3, 6) - 448,294

Deferred charges (Notes 3, 7) - 723,744

Future income taxes - 345,000

$ 15,947,153 $ 15,227,102

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED

Balance Sheet

September 30, 2017

2017 2016

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

CURRENT
Bank indebtedness (Note 8) $ 965,248 $ 501,838
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Notes 9, 12) 2,226,899 1,948,855
Income taxes payable 187,670 -
Customer deposits (Note 3) - 117,153
Deferred revenue - 48,418
Future income taxes 409,000 214,000
Term notes payable (Note 10) 6,572,253 7,018,053
Liabilities transferred with assets held for sale (Note 3) 489,065 -

10,850,135 9,848,317

Accounts payable due beyond one year (Note 13) - 639,423

10,850,135 10,487,740

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
Share capital (Note 11) 13,461,439 13,461,439
Deficit (8,364,421) (8,722,077)

5,097,018 4,739,362

$ 15,947,153 $ 15,227,102

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (Note 3)  

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

_____________________________ Director

_____________________________ Director

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED

Statement of Deficit

Year Ended September 30, 2017

2017 2016

DEFICIT - BEGINNING OF YEAR $ (8,722,077) $ (9,159,034)

Net income for the year 357,656 436,957

DEFICIT - END OF YEAR $ (8,364,421) $ (8,722,077)

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED

Statement of Income

Year Ended September 30, 2017

2017 2016
(Note 3)

Gas commodity revenue $ 4,085,802 $ 3,841,812
Gas commodity cost (4,077,386) (3,833,916)

Gross margin on commodity 8,416 7,896

Distribution revenue 6,855,629 6,502,192
Distribution costs (850,009) (824,267)

Gross margin on distribution 6,005,620 5,677,925

Other sales 7,620 13,363
Labour and materials costs related to other sales (1,343) (4,644)

6,277 8,719

TOTAL GROSS MARGIN 6,020,313 5,694,540

OPERATING EXPENSES (Schedule 1) 5,719,592 5,166,129

INCOME  FROM OPERATIONS 300,721 528,411

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES)
Other revenue 102,105 112,046
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (5,170) -

96,935 112,046

INCOME FROM OPERATIONS BEFORE TAXES 397,656 640,457

INCOME TAXES (RECOVERY)
Current income taxes 700,000 442,000
Future income taxes (660,000) (238,500)

40,000 203,500

NET INCOME FOR THE YEAR $ 357,656 $ 436,957

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED

Statement of Cash Flow

Year Ended September 30, 2017

2017 2016

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income for the year $ 357,656 $ 436,957
Items not affecting cash:

Amortization of property, plant and equipment 1,165,661 1,015,033
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 5,170 -
Amortization of franchises and consents, and deferred charges 97,855 96,444
Amortization of regulatory charges - 141,477
Future income taxes (660,000) (238,500)
Write down of deferred charges 286,427 -

1,252,769 1,451,411

Changes in non-cash working capital:  
Accounts receivable (105,894) 111,813
Taxes other than income taxes payable/recoverable 125,844 (118,511)
Inventory (53,151) (15,427)
Prepaid expenses (4,179) 193,305
Income taxes payable / recoverable 202,171 (116,434)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (277,944) (236,322)
Deferred revenue (48,418) (72,982)
Accounts payable due beyond one year - (366,594)
Customer deposits (1,252) (17,187)

(162,823) (638,339)

Cash flow from operating activities 1,089,946 813,072

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Additions to property, plant and equipment (1,084,205) (2,748,667)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 6,000 -
Additions to franchise and consents (29,351) (30,722)
Proceeds on franchise and consents - 120,000

Cash flow used by investing activities (1,107,556) (2,659,389)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Advances from term notes payable - 2,000,000
Repayments of term notes payable (445,800) (354,138)

Cash flow from (used by) financing activities (445,800) 1,645,862

DECREASE IN CASH (463,410) (200,455)

Bank indebtedness- beginning of year (501,838) (301,383)

BANK INDEBTEDNESS - END OF YEAR $ (965,248) $ (501,838)

See note 3 for breakdown between continuing and discontinued operations for cash flow purposes.  

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended September 30, 2017

1. NATURE OF BUSINESS  

The Company operates as a rate regulated, natural gas distribution utility and operates within a limited area of
Southwestern Ontario under franchise agreements that are approved by the Ontario Energy Board (OEB).

The utility operations are subject to regulations under The Ontario Energy Board Act and The Energy Act
(Ontario).  Revenue rate schedules are approved periodically by the OEB and are designed to permit a fair and
reasonable return to the Company on the utility investment.  Realization of the allowed rate of return is subject
to actual operating conditions experienced during the year.

2. BASIS OF PRESENTATION  

The financial statements were prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for private
enterprises (ASPE). ASPE are part of Canadian generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP).

Such accounting principles may differ for regulated entities from those otherwise expected in non-regulated
entities.  These differences occur when the OEB renders their decisions on the Company's rate applications
and generally involve the timing of revenue and expense recognition to ensure that the Company has achieved
a proper matching of revenues and expenses, and as a result the Company records assets and liabilities that
would not have been recorded under ASPE for non-regulated entities.  

In addition to defining certain accounting requirements, the OEB has jurisdiction over a number of other
matters, which include the rates to be charged for the distribution of gas and approval and recovery of costs for
major construction and operations.
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended September 30, 2017

3. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS     

On October 31, 2017, the Company completed an Asset Purchase Agreement (the "Agreement") to sell the
natural gas distribution utility assets and operations including all franchises and consents, which constitutes
substantially all of the assets of the Company, along with the purchaser assuming certain liabilities related to
the utility business as outlined in the Agreement. The Company received $21,018,554, subject to adjustment
based on final numbers at the closing date,  for this transaction,  which it used to repay the term notes in note 7
and the bank indebtedness.

The intention to sell the assets and operations of the Company was in effect during the September 30, 2017
year end and therefore the long-term assets have been recorded on the balance sheet as held for sale. No loss
was required to be recorded in the income statement upon this reclassification.

Assets held for sale consists primarily of $12,606,529 of property, plant and equipment, $662,105 of deferred
charges, $441,430 of  franchises and consents, $111,569 of inventory and $904,441 of accounts receivable.

Liabilities transferred with assets held for sale consists primarily of $300,489 of deferred charges, $115,901 of
customer deposits and $69,372 of accounts payable and accrued liabilities.

All operations represented on the income statement were transferred to the purchaser on closing.

Substantially all of the items on the cash flow statement relate to the sale of the operating assets.  The
allocation of operating, investing and financing activities on the cash flow statement is allocated between
continuing and discontinued operations as follows:  Operating activities - continuing $71,025, discontinued
$1,018,921;  investing - continuing $nil, discontinued ($1,107,556);  financing - continuing ($445,800),
discontinued $nil.  Overall continuing operations resulted in a net cash outflow of $374,775 and discontinued
operations resulted in a net cash outflow of $88,635. 

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES        

Revenue recognition

The Company recognizes revenues when gas has been delivered or services have been performed.  Gas
distribution revenues are recorded on the basis of regular meter readings and estimates of customer usage since
the last meter reading to the end of the reporting period. 

A significant portion of the Company's operations are subject to regulation and accordingly there are
circumstances where the revenues recognized do not match the amounts billed.  Revenue is recognized in a
manner consistent with the underlying rate setting mechanism as mandated by the OEB.  This may give rise to
regulatory deferral accounts on the balance sheet (included in accounts receivable or accounts payable and
accrued liabilities) pending disposition by a decision of the OEB.

Revenue on sales not subject to rate regulations are recognized when goods have been delivered or services
have been performed.

Investment revenue is recognized as income when the dividends and interest is received.  Gains or losses are
recorded upon disposal of investments.

(continues)
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended September 30, 2017

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Cash

Cash consists of cash on hand and bank account balances, with adjustments for outstanding cheques or
deposits at year-end.

Inventory      

Inventory consists of materials used for the service of existing gas pipelines and the addition of new gas
pipelines.  Inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value with cost being determined on a
first-in, first-out basis.  Net realizable value is defined as replacement cost.

Franchises and consents

Costs associated with acquiring municipal franchises and other consents are capitalized when incurred, if the
franchise application is successful.  These costs are amortized on a straight line basis over the term of the
franchise.

These assets are tested for an impairment in value when events or circumstances indicate that an asset might be
impaired. The assets are tested for impairment by comparing their carrying value to estimates of their fair
value.  Fair value is based on estimates of discounted future cash flows or other valuation methods. When the
fair value is determined to be less than carrying value, the resulting impairment is reported in the income
statement.

Deferred charges

Certain costs, required or permitted by the OEB, have been deferred for recovery from future revenues.  The
period of recovery for these deferrals has been or will be determined by decisions of the OEB, and will
determine the classification of these charges in the financial statements.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is recorded at cost, including associated labour and overhead costs.
Expenditures which substantially increase the useful life of existing pipeline installations and additions to the
pipeline are capitalized. Such expenditures include material, labour and overhead. Maintenance and repairs
which do not extend the useful life of pipeline installations are charged to income.

Pursuant to the regulations of the OEB on the disposal of property, plant, and equipment that is subject to rate
regulation, the company transfers the original cost of the retired assets, plus any related removal costs and net
of any proceeds on disposition, to accumulated amortization. Proceeds from disposition are credited to
accumulated amortization.  This effectively credits gains, or charges losses on disposition to accumulated
amortization.

For disposals of major property, plant and equipment and for those assets not subject to rate regulation, gains
or losses are included in current earnings.

The company has reviewed its long-lived assets and determined there exists no asset retirement obligation as
of September 30, 2017.

(continues)

9



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended September 30, 2017

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Amortization       

Pursuant to the periodic review and approval by the OEB of amortization rates, amortization is calculated on
the total gross cost of each asset category at the end of the year, rather than on an asset specific basis.
Property, plant and equipment are amortized at the following rates and methods listed below:

Buildings 2% straight-line method
Machinery and equipment 7% to 9% declining balance method
Automotive equipment 17% straight-line method
Computer equipment and

software
20% to 33% declining balance method

Furniture and fixtures 7% straight-line method
Meters and regulators 3% to 17% straight-line method
Pipeline installations 3% to 5% straight-line method

Pursuant to the approval of the OEB, the company changes its amortization rates for the various categories of
property, plant and equipment as well as for franchises and consents based upon OEB Rate Case filings.  Any
such changes in estimate are applied on a prospective basis.

Future income taxes

Income taxes are reported using the future income taxes method, as follows: current income tax expense is the
estimated income taxes payable for the current year after any refunds or the use of losses incurred in previous
years, and future income taxes reflect:

 the temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for accounting
purposes and the amounts used for tax purposes;

 the benefit of unutilized tax losses that will more likely than not be realized and carried forward to
future years to reduce income taxes.

Future income taxes are estimated using the rates enacted by tax law and those substantively enacted for the
years in which future income taxes assets are likely to be realized, or future income tax liabilities settled. The
effect of a change in tax rates on future income tax assets and liabilities is included in earnings in the period
when the change is substantively enacted.

Gas commodity costs and gas transportation costs

Gas commodity costs and gas transportation costs are recorded using prices approved by the OEB in the
determination of customers sales rates.  Differences between the OEB approved reference prices and those
costs actually incurred are deferred in accounts receivable or accounts payable for consideration in future rate
adjustments or disposition subject to the approval of the OEB.  In a non-regulated environment periodic
variances between gas commodity sales rates and costs or gas transportation costs would be reported through
the income statement annually without the use of deferral accounts.

(continues)
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended September 30, 2017

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial instruments policy   

Financial instruments are recorded at fair value when acquired or issued. In subsequent periods, financial
assets with actively traded markets are reported at fair value, with any unrealized gains and losses reported in
income. All other financial instruments are reported at amortized cost, and tested for impairment at each
reporting date. 

Transaction costs on the acquisition, sale, or issue of financial instruments are expensed when incurred.
However, financial instruments that will not be subsequently measured at fair value are adjusted by the
transaction costs that are directly attributable to their original issuance or assumption.

Measurement uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian ASPE requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses
during the period. Such estimates are periodically reviewed and any adjustments necessary are reported in
earnings in the period in which they become known. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

5. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT         
2017 2016

Cost Accumulated Net book Net book
amortization value value

Land $ - $ - $ - $ 71,700
Buildings - - - 443,680
Machinery and equipment - - - 246,223
Automotive equipment - - - 118,498
Computer equipment and software - - - 233,913
Furniture and fixtures - - - 30,051
Meters and regulators - - - 1,758,705
Pipeline installations - - - 9,796,386

$ - $ - $ - $ 12,699,156

Included in pipeline installations above is $nil of pipeline in progress at September 30, 2017 (2016 -
$1,425,380)  which is not being amortized.

6. FRANCHISES AND CONSENTS      
2017 2016

Franchises and consents $ - $ 709,289
Accumulated amortization - (260,995)

$ - $ 448,294
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended September 30, 2017

7. DEFERRED CHARGES          

2017 2016

Deferred charges (see note below) $ - $ 924,664
Rates application costs - 282,977
Less:  Accumulated amortization - (483,897)

$ - $ 723,744

Deferred charges consist of amounts ordered by the OEB to be paid on behalf of  a customer.  Deferred
charges are amortized over 15 years on a straight line basis. The  deferred charges were included in assets held
for sale as at September 30, 2017 in the amount of $662,105.

Rates applications costs are deferred and amortized on a straight line basis over the time period for which the
application applies.  These costs are fully amortized as of September 30, 2017.

8. OPERATING LINE OF CREDIT    

The Company has an operating line of credit in the amount of $1,000,000 which it obtained in conjunction
with the term notes, with interest at the Bank's Prime Rate on any advances.

The continuation of the above credit facilities is subject to annual review by the Bank.  These credit facilities
are secured by the security agreement in place as disclosed in note 10.
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended September 30, 2017

9. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  

Included in accounts receivable (part of Assests held for sale for 2017) are amounts receivable from related
companies of $565 (2016 - $140,034).

Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities are amounts payable to related companies of $727,044
(2016 - $NIL).

During the year, management fees of $457,020 (2016 - $457,020) were paid to a related company.

During the year, the Company purchased gas in the amount of $506,907 (2016 - $483,371) from a related
company.

During the year, maintenance charges of $6,000 (2016 - $6,000) were charged to a related company.

During the year, the Company paid pipeline construction costs of $355,173 (2016 - $1,270,256) to a related
company.

During the year, the Company agreed to provide credit facilities to a related party up to a maximum of
$2,000,000 with interest charged at 1% per annum on the outstanding balance. The credit facility was utilized
during the year, however no balance is outstanding on the facility at September 30, 2017.  Interest earned on
advances made under the credit facility amount to $1,046.

Related companies are companies controlled, directly or indirectly, by trusts, where the beneficiaries of the
trusts are common to both trusts, but the trustee or group of trustees which exercise control over any of the
related parties are different than the group of trustees of the trust which controls Natural Resource Gas
Limited.

These transactions are in the normal course of operations and are measured at the exchange amount, which is
the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended September 30, 2017

10. TERM NOTES PAYABLE       
2017 2016

Bank of Nova Scotia term note payable, maturing on November 3,
2017 (matured on June 30, 2017, extended with identical terms),
interest at bank prime plus 0.25%, repayable in monthly payments
of $12,386 plus interest, due on demand $ 2,018,868 $ 2,167,500

Bank of Nova Scotia term note payable, maturing on November 3,
2017 (matured on June 30, 2017, extended with identical terms),
interest at bank prime, repayable in monthly payments of $16,431
plus interest, due on demand 2,661,715 2,858,887

Bank of Nova Scotia term note payable, maturing on November  3,
2017 (matured on June 30, 2017, extended with identical terms),
interest at bank prime plus 0.25%, repayable in monthly payments
of $8,333 plus interest, due on demand 1,891,670 1,991,666

$ 6,572,253 $ 7,018,053

The Company has pledged the following as security against the term notes payable, the operating line of credit,
and the revolving line of credit (note 5):

a)  General assignment of book debts

b)  General Security Agreement over all of the present and future personal property and undertaking of the
company

c)  Security under Section 427 of the Bank Act with appropriate insurance coverage assigned to the Bank

d)  Postponement of dividends and share redemption payments by the Class C shareholders

e)  Demand Debenture for $15,000,000 secured by a first fixed and floating charge over all assets
including, but not limited to, the Certificate of Public Convenience and Necessity and all Municipal
Franchise Agreements, with replacement cost fire insurance coverage, loss if any, payable to the Bank
as mortgagee.

The term notes payable, the operating line of credit, and the revolving line of credit include the following
covenants that the company must meet:

1. maintain a debt service coverage ratio of 1.25:1 or better; and 

2. maintain a ratio of debt to tangible net worth of 3.0 or less; and

3. annual capital expenditures of $3.0 million or less for the fiscal year ending September 30, 2016 and
reducing to $1.5 million annually thereafter. 

At September 30, 2017, the Company was not in compliance with the first covenant due to the debt being
listed as short term as it was settled after year end. Otherwise the Company was in compliance with all
covenants.  Subsequent to year-end the term notes payable and the operating line of credit were repaid (note
3).
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended September 30, 2017

11. SHARE CAPITAL          

Authorized:
Unlimited Unlimited Class A shares, non-voting, redeemable and retractable at the paid up amount,

with non-cumulative dividends
Unlimited Unlimited Class B shares, participating, non-voting, with non-cumulative dividends ranking

pari passu with common shares on dissolution
Unlimited Unlimited Class C shares non-voting, with  preferential 7% non-cumulative dividends

redeemable and retractable at $100 per share
Unlimited Unlimited Class Z  shares voting, redeemable and retractable at $1 per share, with no

dividend entitlement 
Unlimited Unlimited number of common shares

2017 2016

Issued:    

50,000 Class A shares $ 1 $ 1
10 Class B shares 10 10

134,614 Class C shares 13,461,418 13,461,418
10 Class Z shares 10 10

$ 13,461,439 $ 13,461,439

12. GAS IMBALANCES    

The Company, in the normal course of its operations experiences imbalances in the quantity of gas purchased
and the quantities of gas consumed and provides the gas balancing services to customers.  The company
records the net liability (or net asset) associated with gas imbalance volumes.

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities include $nil (2016 - $161,897) related to gas imbalances.  Natural gas
volumes owed from the Company are valued at the natural gas reference price as approved by the OEB as of
the balance sheet dates. 

15



NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended September 30, 2017

13. REGULATORY MATTERS    

The Company's distribution rates are approved by the OEB.  The Company's commodity rates are approved by
the OEB and adjusted on a quarterly basis based on commodity price forecasts.  The difference between the
approved and the actual cost of gas incurred in the current period is deferred for future recovery subject to
approval by the OEB.  

During a prior year, Union Gas charged the Company $2,007,250 for the shortfall of the winter checkpoint.
This was later reduced from a Decision and Order made by the OEB to $1,287,548. The OEB issued a
Decision and Order on this matter which confirmed the amount of the allowable charge by Union Gas.  The
Decision and Order allowed $181,531 of this to be recoverable through the commodity variance account,
while the remaining $1,106,016 was not to be recovered through rates.  The Decision and Order sets out the
terms of payment of the charge to Union Gas, which will be repayable over multiple years based on operating
results of the Company. Subsequent to year-end the remaining amount owing was repaid in full upon the sale
of its net operating assets. Therefore, entire balance is accrued for as a current amount.

The Company has a matter before the OEB relating to the allowable natural gas price it can recover from
natural gas purchased from a related party.  The OEB is currently seeking additional information prior to
making a ruling on this matter. 

Accounting principles differ for regulated entities from those otherwise expected in non-regulated entities.
These differences occur when the regulatory agencies render their decisions on the Company's rate
applications and generally involve the timing of revenue and expense recognition to ensure that the Company
has achieved a proper matching of revenues and expenses.  As a result the Company records assets and
liabilities that would not have been recorded under ASPE for non-regulated entities, which would include
deferred charges and other regulatory assets and liabilities.  The following balances are a direct result of rate
regulatory matters:

Included in accounts payable is $nil (2016 - $95,250) resulting from the regulated ratemaking process that
may not be recorded under ASPE in the absence of rate regulation.   

Included in liabilities transferred with assets held for sale is $300,489 in liabilities related to the regulated
ratemaking process that would not be recorded as a liability under ASPE in the absence of rate regulation.
The balance of deferred charges in the amount $286,427 were charged to the statement of operations due to
the sale of the rate regulated operations subsequent to year end, as per note 3.   

In the absence of rate-regulation, some of the above balances would be recognized in the income statement
of the organization.  As a result, net income from operations would decrease by $79,559 (2016 - decrease
by $1,149,584).

In the absence of rate-regulation, the Company's current future income tax liability would be lower by
$190,000 (2016 - lower by $214,000) as a result of the elimination of the regulatory amounts included in
accounts payable and accounts receivable.

14. CAPITAL LOSSES FOR INCOME TAX CARRIED FORWARD    

In the prior year, the company incurred a capital loss of $2,622,625 which is available for application against
future years' capital gains, with no expiry date. This amount has been included in the calculation of future
income tax assets and liabilities.
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended September 30, 2017

15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS    

The Company is exposed to various risks through its financial instruments.  The following analysis provides
information about the Company's risk exposure and concentration. There have been no significant changes to
the nature or concentration of these risks from the prior year, unless otherwise stated. 

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by
failing to discharge an obligation.  The  Company is exposed to credit risk from customers.  In order to reduce
its credit risk, the Company reviews a new customer's credit history before extending credit and conducts
regular reviews of its existing customers' credit performance.  The Company has the ability to take security
deposits if there are payment issues, and charge interest and penalties on any late payments.  The Company has
a significant number of customers which minimizes concentration of credit risk. 

An allowance for doubtful accounts is established based upon factors surrounding the credit risk of specific
accounts, historical trends and other information. The allowance for doubtful accounts was $66,258 at
September 30, 2017 (2016 - $212,580).

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial
liabilities.  The Company manages its liquidity risk by forecasting its cash needs on a regular basis and seeking
additional information based on those forecasts.  The Company's objective is to generate sufficient cash from
its operations to meet its financial obligations. The Company also maintains available credit facilities as
described in note 5 to support the liquidity requirements of the business. 

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market prices.  Market risk comprises three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and other
price risk.

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk to the company's earnings that arise from fluctuations of foreign exchange rates.  The
company was exposed to currency risk on the short-term investments it held during the prior year. As of
September 30, 2017 and throughout the fiscal year, it did not hold financial instruments denominated in a
foreign currency.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates.    The Company is exposed to interest rate risk primarily through
its term notes payable and lines of credit as they bear interest at a fluctuating bank prime rate related interest
rate.  Additionally, the Company earns interest or is charged interest on its regulatory amounts receivable or
amounts payable at the interest rate prescribed by the OEB, which is subject to adjustment on a quarterly basis.

Included in other revenue is interest income of $4,444 (2016 - $5,190) earned on regulatory balances and
charged on late payments.

(continues)
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED

Notes to Financial Statements

Year Ended September 30, 2017

15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Other price risk

Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), whether
those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors
affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market.  The Company is exposed to other price risk
through its natural gas prices.  

The Company has entered into several material contracts for the supply of natural gas.  The Company employs
established policies and procedures in order to manage the risk associated with the market fluctuations of
natural gas prices.  The Company, through the rate regulations imposed by the OEB, is effectively allowed to
fully recover its costs, reasonably incurred, and as such the ratepayers, and not the Company, are ultimately
exposed to the risk of these market fluctuations.  The remaining balances on these contracts were transferred to
the purchaser on closing (note 3).
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NATURAL RESOURCE GAS LIMITED

Schedule of Operating Expenses (Schedule 1)

Year Ended September 30, 2017

2017 2016

Salaries and benefits $ 1,411,675 $ 1,586,426
Amortization of property, plant and equipment 1,165,661 1,015,033
Professional fees 1,012,620 411,548
Property taxes 492,809 540,380
Management fees (Note 9) 457,020 457,020
Gas commodity costs (Note 13) 209,996 47,670
Interest on term notes payable 197,688 151,668
Office 187,022 212,649
Insurance 169,301 169,767
Repairs and maintenance 104,602 117,133
Amortization of franchises and consents and deferred charges 97,855 96,444
Ontario Energy Board hearings and regulatory charges 63,010 191,958
Vehicle 57,628 49,027
Interest expense 52,420 52,806
Advertising 38,608 43,291
Bad debts 24,591 44,955
Utilities 9,525 9,205

5,752,031 5,196,980
Equipment expenses capitalized to pipeline installations (21,385) (19,637)
Amortization capitalized to pipeline installations (11,054) (11,214)

$ 5,719,592 $ 5,166,129

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
To the Board of Directors of 
EPCOR Ontario Utilities Inc. 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of EPCOR Natural Gas Limited Partnership, which 
comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2017, and the statement of comprehensive 
income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our 
audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we 
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the financial statements are free from material misstatement.  
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of EPCOR 
Natural Gas Limited Partnership as at December 31, 2017, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
 
 
Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 
 
London, Ontario 
April 23, 2018 

 



EPCOR Natural Gas Limited Partnership  
Statement of Comprehensive Income  
(In thousands of Canadian dollars) 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
2 

For the year ended December 31,    2017   2016 

(With comparative amounts for the 2 months ended December 31, 2016) 

 
Revenue:   

Commercial services  $ 1,809  $ -

Natural gas sales                 1,408                         -

   3,217   -

Operating expenses:   

Energy purchases    1,377   -

Staff costs and employee benefits expenses   218   - 

Depreciation and amortization (note 5)   190   -

Other raw materials and operating charges   174   -

Finance expenses (net)                      24                          - 

Franchise fees and property taxes   100   -

Other administrative expenses   1,566   -

     3,649     -
Comprehensive loss for the year 
- all attributable to the Partners  $          (432)  $                 -

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



EPCOR Natural Gas Limited Partnership  
Statement of Financial Position 
(In thousands of Canadian dollars) 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
3 

 
 December 31, 

2017
 December 31, 

2016
 November 4, 

2016

ASSETS    

Current assets:    

Cash   $ 2,408  $ -  $ - 

Trade and other receivables (note 6)   2,221   1   1 

Prepaid expenses    358   -   - 

Inventories (note 7)   82   -   - 

   5,069   -   - 

Non-current assets:    

Property, plant and equipment (note 8)   17,857   -   - 

Intangible assets (note 9)   1,207   -   - 

Goodwill (note 9)   1,886   -   - 

               20,950                        1                        1 

TOTAL ASSETS      $       26,019      $                1      $                1 

    
 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY    

Current liabilities:    

Loans and borrowings (note 11)   $ 3,153  $ -  $ - 

Trade and other payables (note 10)   1,143   -   - 

   Customer deposits                    103  -  - 

   Provisions (note 13)   19   -   - 

   4,418   -   - 

Non-current liabilities:    

Loans and borrowings (note 11)   8,660   -   - 

Deferred revenue (note 12)   13   -   - 

   8,673   -   - 

Total liabilities   13,091   -   - 

Equity attributable to the Partners:    

Partnership units (note 14)   13,360   1   1 

Deficit   (432)   -   - 

Total equity   12,928   1   1 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY  $ 26,019  $ 1  $ 1 
 
Approved on behalf of the EPCOR Ontario Utilities Inc. Board of Directors, 
 

        

Stuart Lee      Tony Scozzafava  
Director, EPCOR Ontario Utilities Inc   Director, EPCOR Ontario Utilities Inc



EPCOR Natural Gas Limited Partnership  
Statement of Changes in Equity 
(In thousands of Canadian dollars) 

For the year ended December 31, 2017 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
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  Partnership 
   units 
  (note 14) 

  Retained 
   earnings 
  (deficit) 

  Equity 
  attributable 
  to the 
  Partners 

Equity at November 4, 2016     $  1  $   $ 1 

Comprehensive income for the period                         -                         -                         - 

Equity at December 31, 2016       $                1      $                 -      $                1 
 
Equity contribution from the Partners     $  13,359  $ -  $ 13,359 

Comprehensive loss for the year        -   (432)   (432)

Equity at December 31, 2017     $  13,360  $ (432)  $       12,928 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



EPCOR Natural Gas Limited Partnership  
Statement of Cash Flows 
(In thousands of Canadian dollars) 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements 
5 

For the year ended December 31,    2017   2016 

(With comparative amounts for the 2 months ended December 31, 2016) 

 
Cash flows from (used in) operating activities:   

Comprehensive loss for the year  $ (432)  $ - 
Reconciliation of comprehensive loss  
 for the year  to cash from (used in) operating activities:   

Depreciation and amortization (note 5)   190   - 
Finance expenses (net)                      24                         - 

Interest paid (net)                     (24)                         - 

Change in employee benefits provisions (note 13)   16   - 

Funds used in operations   (226)   - 

Non-cash operating working capital (note 15)   54   (1)

Net cash flows used in operating activities   (172)   (1) 

Cash flows used in investing activities:   

Acquisition or construction of property, plant and equipment (note 8)   (546)   - 

Acquisition  of intangible assets (note 9)   (41)   - 

Business acquisition (note 22)   (22,019)   - 

Net cash flows used in investing activities   (22,606)   - 

Cash flows from financing activities:   

Cash contributions received (note 12)                  13   - 

Net proceeds from short-term loans and borrowings (note 16)   3,153   - 

Issuance of long-term loans and borrowings (note 16)   8,660   - 

Equity contributions from the partners (note 14)   13,360   1 

Net cash flows from financing activities    25,186   1 

Increase in cash            2,408   -

Cash, beginning of year                  -   -

Cash, end of year  $ 2,408  $ -
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



EPCOR Natural Gas Limited Partnership 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
(In thousands of Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 
December 31, 2017 
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1. Description of business 

(a) Nature of operations 

EPCOR Natural Gas Limited Partnership (the Partnership or ENGLP) provides natural gas distribution service 
through its general partner EPCOR Ontario Utilities Inc. (the General Partner or EOUI) and operates within  
Southwestern Ontario under franchise agreements that are approved by the Ontario Energy Board (OEB). 

The Limited Partnership was formed on November 4, 2016 pursuant to a Certificate of Limited Partnership and a 
limited partnership agreement entered into between the General Partner and EPCOR Power Development 
Corporation (the "Limited Partner") dated as of November 4, 2016 and operates in Ontario with its registered head 
office located at 77 King Street West, Suite 400, Toronto, Ontario M5K 0A1. 

ENGLP is a limited partnership registered in Canada and is managed by the General Partner. Although the General 
Partner holds legal title to the assets, the Partnership is the beneficial owner and assumes all the risks and rewards of 
the assets.  

The Partnership is indirectly 100% owned by EPCOR Utilities Inc. (EPCOR). 

(b) Rate regulation 

The Partnership’s operations are regulated by the OEB pursuant to The Ontario Energy Board Act (Ontario), The 
Energy Act (Ontario) and regulations made under those statutes. The OEB administers these acts and regulations 
regarding tariffs, rates, construction, financing, operations, accounting and service area.  Revenue rate schedules are 
approved periodically by the OEB and are designed to permit a fair and reasonable return to the Partnership on the 
utility investment. Realization of the allowed rate of return is subject to actual operating conditions experienced during 
the year.   

Regulatory risk is the risk that the Province and its regulator, the OEB, could establish a regulatory regime that 
imposes conditions that restrict the natural gas distribution business from achieving an acceptable rate of return that 
permits financial substainability of its operations including the recovery of expenses incurred for the benefit of other 
market participants in the natural gas industry such as transition costs and other regulatory assets. All requests for 
change in natural gas distribution charges require the approval of the OEB. 

Regulatory developments in Ontario’s natural gas industry, including current and possible future consultations 
between the OEB and interest stakeholders, may affect distribution rates and other permitted recoveries in the future. 
EPCOR is subject to a cost of service regulatory mechanism under which the OEB establishes the revenues required 
(i) to recover the forecast operating costs, including depreciation and amortization and income taxes, of providing the 
regulated service, and (ii) to provide a fair and reasonable return on utility investment, or rate base. As actual 
operating conditions may vary from forecast, actual returns achieved can differ from approved returns. 

2. Basis of presentation  

(a) Statement of compliance 

These financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with IFRS as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). These financial statements were approved and authorized for issue 
by the EPCOR Ontario Utilities Inc. Board of Directors on April 23, 2018. 

(b) First time adoption of IFRS 

Effective January 1, 2017, the Partnership adopted IFRS. These are the Partnership’s first financial statements 
prepared in accordance with IFRS. First-time adoption of IFRS had no impact on the Partnership’s comprehensive 
income for the year ended December 31, 2016 or on retained earnings as at November 4, 2016, the date of transition 

(c) Basis of measurement 

The Partnership's financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis. 

(d) Functional and presentation currency 



EPCOR Natural Gas Limited Partnership 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
(In thousands of Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 
December 31, 2017 
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These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars and all rounded to the nearest thousand dollars, except 
where otherwise stated.  

3. Significant accounting policies 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently during the period presented in these financial 
statements unless otherwise indicated. 

(a) Business combinations and goodwill 

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The determination of whether or not an 
acquisition meets the definition of business combination under IFRS requires judgment and is assessed on a case by 
case basis. The consideration for an acquisition is measured at the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments 
issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of acquisition in exchange for control of the acquired business. 
The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships. Such 
amounts are recognized in comprehensive income. Transaction costs that the Partnership incurs in connection with a 
business combination, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, are expensed as 
incurred. 

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair 
values at the date of acquisition. Any contingent consideration payable is measured at fair value at the acquisition 
date. If the contingent consideration is classified as equity then it is not re-measured and settlement is accounted for 
within equity. Subsequent changes in the fair value of contingent consideration that is not classified as equity are 
recognized in comprehensive income.  

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the fair value of the consideration transferred less the fair value of the 
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. Subsequently, goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses, if any. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently, if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate the carrying amount may be impaired. Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable 
amount of the cash-generating unit to which goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating 
unit is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognized. 

(b) Revenue recognition 

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that economic benefits will flow to the Partnership for the 
provision of services and where the revenue can be reliably measured. Revenues are measured at the fair value of 
the consideration received or to be received, excluding discounts, rebates and sales taxes or duty. 

Revenues from sales of natural gas are recognized upon delivery to the customer. These revenues include an 
estimate of the value of goods and services consumed by customers by the end of the reporting period and billed 
subsequent to the reporting period.  

Revenues from the provision of natural gas distribution service are recognized over the period in which the service is 
performed and collectability is probable. These revenues include an estimate of the value of natural gas delivered to 
residential and commercial customers and billed subsequent to the reporting period. The Partnership has determined 
that they are acting as the principal for the commodity distribution and, therefore, have presented the commodity 
revenues on a gross basis 

(c) Income taxes 

As a limited partnership, ENGLP is not taxed at the entity level under the Canadian Income Tax Act. All income tax 
consequences are borne by its partners on a pro rata basis in proportion to their interest in the partnership.  

(d) Inventories 

Small parts and other consumables, the majority of which are consumed by the Partnership in the provision of its 
services, are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost includes the purchase price, transportation 
costs and other costs to bring the inventories to their present location and condition. The costs of inventory items that 
are interchangeable are determined on an average cost basis. For inventory items that are not interchangeable, cost 
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is assigned using specific identification of their individual costs. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in 
the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make 
the sale. Previous write-downs of inventories from cost to net realizable value can be fully or partially reversed if 
supported by economic circumstances.  

(e) Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment (PP&E) are recorded at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses, if any. 

Cost includes contracted services, materials and direct labor costs on qualifying assets. Where parts of an item of 
PP&E have different estimated economic useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major components) 
of PP&E. 

The cost of major inspections and maintenance is recognized in the carrying amount of the item if the asset 
recognition criteria are satisfied. The carrying amount of a replaced part is derecognized. The costs of day-to-day 
servicing are expensed as incurred. 

Depreciation of cost less residual value is charged on a straight-line basis over the estimated economic useful lives of 
items of each depreciable component of PP&E, from the date they are available for use, as this most closely reflects 
the expected usage of the assets. Land and construction work in progress are not depreciated. Estimating the 
appropriate economic useful lives of assets requires significant judgment and is generally based on estimates of life 
characteristics of similar assets. The estimated economic useful lives, methods of depreciation and residual values 
are reviewed annually with any changes adopted on a prospective basis. 

The ranges of estimated economic useful lives for PP&E assets used are as follows: 

Information systems & other 
Machinery & equipment 
Natural Gas distribution 

4 – 45 years 
8 – 15 years 

20 – 55 years 

Gains or losses on the disposal of PP&E are determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the 
carrying amount at the date of disposal. The gains or losses are included within depreciation and amortization. 

(f) Intangible assets 

Intangible assets with finite lives are stated at cost, net of accumulated amortization and impairment losses, if any. 
The cost of a group of intangible assets acquired in a transaction, including those acquired in a business combination 
that meet the specified criteria for recognition apart from goodwill, is allocated to the individual assets acquired based 
on their relative fair value. 

The cost of intangible software includes the cost of license acquisitions, contracted services, materials, and direct 
labor costs on qualifying assets. 

Amortization of the cost of finite life intangible assets is recognized on a straight-line basis over the estimated 
economic useful lives of the assets, from the date they are available for use, as this most closely reflects the 
expected usage of the asset. Work in progress is not amortized. The estimated economic useful lives and methods of 
amortization are reviewed annually with any changes adopted on a prospective basis. 

The estimated economic useful lives for intangible assets with finite lives are as follows: 

Software 10 years 
Other rights  20 years 

Gains or losses on the disposal of intangible assets are determined as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount at the date of disposal. The gains or losses are included within depreciation and 
amortization. 

(g) Deferred revenue 

Certain assets may be acquired or constructed using contributions from developers or customers. Non-refundable 
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contributions received towards construction or acquisition of an item of PP&E which are used to provide ongoing 
service to a customer are recorded as deferred revenue and are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated 
economic useful lives of the assets to which they relate. 

 

(h) Provisions 

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Partnership has a present legal or constructive obligation 
that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation.  

(i) Non-derivative financial instruments 

Financial assets are identified and classified as loans and receivables. Financial liabilities are classified as other 
financial liabilities.  

Financial assets and financial liabilities are presented on a net basis when the Partnership has a legally enforceable 
right to set off the recognized amounts and intends to settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle the 
liability simultaneously. 

Loans and receivables 

Cash and cash equivalents and trade and other receivables are classified as loans and receivables. 

The Partnership’s loans and receivables are recognized initially at fair value plus directly attributable transaction 
costs, if any. After initial recognition, they are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method less any 
impairment as described in note 3(j). The effective interest method calculates the amortized cost of a financial asset 
or liability and allocates the finance income or expense over the term of the financial asset or liability using an 
effective interest rate. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or 
receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period when appropriate, to the net carrying 
amount of the financial asset or financial liability. 

Other financial liabilities 

The Partnership’s trade and other payables, customer deposits and loans and borrowings are recognized on the date 
at which the Partnership becomes a party to the contractual arrangement. Other financial liabilities are derecognized 
when the contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expire. 

Other financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs, if any. 
Subsequently, these liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.  

(j) Impairment of financial assets 

The Partnership's financial assets held as loans and receivables are assessed for indicators of impairment at each 
reporting date. An impairment loss for financial assets is recorded when it is identified that there is objective evidence 
that one or more events has occurred, after the initial recognition of the asset, that has had a negative impact on the 
estimated future cash flows of the asset and that can be reliably estimated. Trade receivables and other assets that 
are not assessed for impairment individually are assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of 
impairment includes the Partnership's past experience of collecting payments as well as observable changes in 
national or local economic conditions. 

For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognized is the difference between 
the asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset's original 
effective interest rate. If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases 
because of an event occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is 
reversed or adjusted within comprehensive income. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the 
financial asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined if no 
impairment loss had been recognized. 
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(k) Impairment of non-financial assets 

The carrying amounts of the Partnership’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment. Non-financial assets include PP&E and intangible assets and goodwill. 
For goodwill and intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives or that are not yet available for use, the 
recoverable amount is estimated at least once each year.   

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less 
costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a 
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into the 
smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash 
inflows of other assets or groups of assets (the cash-generating unit or CGU). For the purposes of goodwill 
impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to the CGU, or the group of CGUs, that 
is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. 

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable 
amount. Impairment losses are recognized in comprehensive income. Impairment losses recognized in respect of 
CGUs are allocated to the carrying amount of the assets in the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis.  

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other non-financial assets, impairment losses 
recognized in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no 
longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a fundamental change, since the date of impairment, 
which may improve the financial performance of the non-financial asset. An impairment loss is reversed only to the 
extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortization, if no impairment loss had been recognized. 

(l) Standards and interpretations not yet applied 

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations have been issued by the IASB and the 
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee, the application of which is effective for periods beginning 
on or after January 1, 2018. Those, which may be relevant to the Partnership and may impact the accounting policies 
of the Partnership, are set out below. The Partnership does not plan to adopt these standards early.  

IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments (IFRS 9) which replaces IAS 39 – Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement, includes a new classification and measurement approach for financial assets that reflects the business 
model in which they are held and the characteristics of their contractual cash flows. IFRS 9 contains three principal 
classification categories for financial assets including (i) measured at amortized cost, (ii) fair value through other 
comprehensive income, and (iii) fair value through profit or loss. IFRS 9 also replaces the “incurred loss” model under 
IAS 39 with a forward looking “expected credit loss” (ECL) model for recognition of impairment on financial 
instruments. The effective date for implementation of IFRS 9 has been set for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2018. 

Based on the assessment of the Partnership’s existing financial instruments, the Partnership does not expect any 
material impact on the accounting for its financial instruments as a result of the adoption of IFRS 9. The Partnership 
expects to record an adjustment to the provision of allowance of doubtful accounts on its trade receivables resulting 
from the application of the methodology of the calculation prescribed by the new standard. As per the Partnership’s 
existing policy, the allowance for doubtful accounts is calculated on the overdue balances of trade receivables only, 
whereas the new impairment model requires the Partnership to calculate the lifetime ECL on the initial recognition of 
trade receivables, instead of on the overdue balances only. Accordingly, the Partnership will be required to recognize 
the lifetime ECL on all outstanding trade receivables. As the Partnership has very short credit periods for trade 
receivables, the Partnership does not expect any material impact due to implementation of the new requirements in 
IFRS 9.  

IFRS 15 - Revenue from Contracts with Customers (IFRS 15), which replaces IAS 11 - Construction Contracts and 
IAS 18 - Revenue and related interpretations, is effective for annual periods commencing on or after January 1, 2018. 
IFRS 15 introduces a new single revenue recognition model for contracts with customers and two approaches to 
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recognizing revenue: at a point in time or over time. The model features a contract-based five-step analysis of 
transactions to determine whether, how much and when revenue is recognized.  

There are two methods by which the new standard can be adopted: (1) a full retrospective approach with a 
restatement of all prior periods presented, or (2) a modified retrospective approach with a cumulative-effect 
adjustment recognized in retained earnings as of the date of adoption. The Partnership will adopt IFRS 15 using the 
modified retrospective approach with the cumulative effect of the adjustment, if any, recognized as of January 1, 
2018, subject to allowable and elected practical expedients.  

The Partnership has performed detailed analysis on each revenue stream that is within the scope of the new standard 
through review of the underlying contracts with customers to determine the impact of IFRS 15 on these financial 
statements. A significant portion of the Partnership’s revenue is generated from the provision of utility services. The 
Partnership will continue to recognize utility revenue over time as the Partnership’s customers simultaneously receive 
and consume the services they are provided.  

The Partnership is finalizing its review and quantification of IFRS 15 application to contributions from customers and 
developers. Contributions, which may be in the form of physical assets or financial contributions, help fund 
infrastructure that will be used by the utility to provide ongoing services to customers. Such contributions are currently 
recorded as deferred revenue when received and are amortized and recognized as revenue on a straight-line basis 
over the estimated economic useful lives of the assets to which they relate. The Partnership is finalizing its review of 
all contributions recognized as deferred revenue to identify the contributions which will fall under the scope of IFRS 
15, which includes the quantification of the impact of any change in the accounting treatment to contributions that fall 
within the scope of the new standard. Preliminary analysis suggests that contributions received where the utility will 
have an ongoing performance obligation with the contributor will fall under the scope of IFRS 15, with the fair value of 
the contributed assets recognized as revenue over the period which the related services will be provided. However, 
contributions where the utility has no ongoing performance obligation with the contributor will likely fall outside the 
scope of IFRS 15, and as a result, the Partnership is assessing whether a change in accounting treatment is required 
for these contributions. 

As a result of the adoption of the new standard, the Partnership will be required to include significant disclosures in 
the financial statements based on prescribed requirements. These new disclosures will include information regarding 
the significant judgments used in evaluating how and when revenues are recognized and information related to 
contract assets and deferred revenues. In addition, IFRS 15 requires that the Partnership’s revenue recognition policy 
disclosure includes additional detail regarding the various performance obligations and the nature, amount, timing, 
and estimates of revenues and cash flows generated from contracts with customers. The Partnership is in the 
process of preparing its draft disclosures, which will be required for the December 31, 2018 financial statements. 

4. Use of judgments and estimates 

The preparation of the Partnership’s financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make 
judgment in the application of account policies, and estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
income, expenses, assets and liabilities as well as the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements. 

(a) Judgment 

Information about critical judgments in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the 
amounts recognized in these statements are included in notes: 
Note 3(a) -     Business acquisitions 
Note 3(b) -  Revenue recognition 
Note 3(h) -  Provisions 

(b) Estimates  

The Partnership reviews its estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis and uses the most current information 
available and exercises careful judgment in making these estimates and assumptions. Adjustments to previous 
estimates, which may be material, are recorded in the period in which they become known. Actual results may differ 
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from these estimates. 

Assumptions and uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment within the next financial 
year include: 

Revenues 

Accounting estimates were made in determining revenue recognized for unbilled customer consumption which 
estimates  usage using volumes of natural gas entering into the the distribution system.  

Property plant and equipment and Intangbile assets 

Estimating the appropriate economic useful lives of assets requires significant judgment and is generally based on 
estimates of life characteristics of similar assets. 

Fair value measurement 

The Partnership is required to estimate fair value for determination of asset impairments and the purchase price 
allocation for the business combination. Estimates of fair value may be based on readily determinable market values 
or depreciable replacement cost or discounted cash flow techniques employing estimated future cash flows based on 
a number of assumptions and using an appropriate discount rate. Specific discussion on the recoverability of Goodwill 
has been considered and discussed in note 9. 

 

5. Depreciation and amortization 

      2017 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment     $ 174 

Amortization of intangible assets      16 

     $ 190 

 

6. Trade and other receivables 

           2017    2016 

Trade receivables  $ 1,343  $ 1 

Accrued revenues   980   - 

Gross accounts receivables   2,323   - 

Allowance for doubtful accounts   (102)   - 

  $     2,221  $     1 

Details of the aging of accounts receivables and analysis of the changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts are 
provided in note 19. 

 

7. Inventories 

      2017 

Work-in-progress     $ 48 

General stock      34 

     $ 82 

 
During the year ended December 31, 2017, inventory of $6 was expensed to other raw materials and operating charges. 

No inventory write-downs were recognized in the year ended December 31, 2017. At December 31, 2017, no inventories 
were pledged as security for liabilities. 



EPCOR Natural Gas Limited Partnership 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
(In thousands of Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
 
December 31, 2017 
 

13 

8. Property, plant and equipment 

   Land

Information 
systems & 

other 

Construction 
work in 

progress 

Machinery 
& 

equipment 
Natural gas 
distribution   Total 

Cost      
Additions through business 

acquisition  $ 42  $ 353  $ -  $ 101  $ 16,989  $ 17,485 

Additions   -   176   345   -   25   546 

Balance, end of 2017   42   529   345    101   17,014   18,031 

Accumulated depreciation       

Depreciation   -   24   -   2   148   174 

Balance, end of 2017   -   24   -   2   148   174 

Net book value, end of 2017  $ 42  $ 505  $ 345  $ 99  $ 16,866   $ 17,857 

      There are no security charges over the Partnership 's property, plant and equipment. 

 

9. Intangible assets and goodwill 

Goodwill  Software   Other rights   Total 

Cost    

Additions through business acquisition  $ 1,886  $ 1  $ 1,181 $  3,068 

Investment in intangible assets   -   41   -   41 

Balance, end of 2017   1,886   42   1,181   3,109 

Accumulated amortization     

Amortization   -   2   14   16 

Balance, end of 2017   -   2   14   16 

Net book value, end of 2017  $ 1,886  $ 40  $ 1,167 $  3,093 

 
There are no security charges over the Partnership's intangible assets. 

For purposes of impairment testing, goodwill acquired through business combinations has been allocated to a single cash 
generating unit. The most recent review of goodwill was performed in the fourth quarter. 

The recoverable amount of the cash generating unit was determined using a discounted cash flow analysis. Forecasted 
cash flows reflect revenues consistent with Ontario Energy Board (OEB) methodology of allowing a fair return on 
prudently placed capital that is recoverable through customer rates. Operating costs reflect historical costs of running the 
business, adjusted for inflation, and capital spending forecasts reflect system integrity and capacity needs of utility 
infrastructure. The pre-tax discount rate applied to cash flow projections was 5.1% 

Key assumptions used in value-in-use calculations 

The future cash flows of the underlying businesses are relatively stable since they relate primarily to ongoing natural gas 
supply in a rate-regulated environment. In the case of cash generating units operating under a rate-regulated 
environment, revenues are set by the regulators to cover operating costs and to earn a return on the rate base, which is 
set at the regulator’s approved weighted average cost of capital for the underlying utility.  

The calculation of value in use for the cash generating units is most sensitive to the following assumptions: 
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Discount rates  

The discount rates used were estimated based on the weighted average cost of capital for the cash generating unit, 
which, in the case of rate-regulated businesses, are the approved rate of return on capital allowed by the regulator. These 
rates were further adjusted to reflect the market assessment of any risk specific to the cash generating unit for which 
future estimates of cash flows have not been adjusted. 

Timing of future rate increases  

Revenue growth is forecast to continue in concordance with rate base growth. Prudent capital investment in utility 
infrastructure, to meet customer demand and system integrity needs, may be included in rate base and allowed to earn a 
fair return by the regulator. Such return on rate base is recovered through customer rates which drive revenue. In the case 
of rate-regulated businesses, if future rate filings are delayed then rate increases and increased cash flows from revenues 
would be affected 

Sensitivity to changes in assumptions 

Assumptions have been tested using reasonably possible alternative scenarios. For all scenarios considered, the 
recoverable value remained above the carrying amount of the cash generating unit.  
 

10. Trade and other payables 

                     2017 

Trade payables   $ 260 

Accrued liabilities    853 

Accrued interest    30 

   $ 1,143 

 

11. Loans and borrowings 

12. Deferred revenue 

Customer cash contributions of $13 were received in the year.  

 

 

 
 
      2017 

Short-term note payable to EPCOR 
At the external prime interest rate      $ 3,153  
Long-term note payable to EPCOR      
At 3.83%, due in 2047                     8,660 
Total loans and borrowings      11,813 
Less: current portion        3,153 
 

  
   
     $   8,660 

Short-term note payable to EPCOR is unsecured and due on demand. Interest is payable semi-annually. 

The long-term notes payable to EPCOR are unsecured. Interest is payable semi-annually while principal is due at the 
end of the term. 
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13. Provisions 

Provisions consist of employee benefits obligations for benefits provided under employee incentive plans.   

    2017 

Provisions through business acquisition      $ 3 

Provisions made during the year        16 

Balance, end of year         $ 19 

All employee benefit provision balances are expected to be utilized within one year.  

 

14. Partnership units 

The Partnership is authorized to issue unlimited number of Class A common units without nominal or par value. The units 
are voting and participate equally in profits, losses and capital distributions of the Partnership.  

On November 4, 2016, 1,000 partnership units were issued. The General Partner was issued 1 unit and the Limited 
Partner 999 units.  

On November 1, 2017, 13,358,556 additional units were issued. The General Partner was allocated an additional 13,359 
units and the Limited Partner an additional 13,345,197 units. 

The General Partner holds 13,360 Class A common units having capital contribution of $14 in the Partnership. It manages 
the operations of the Partnership and has a 0.10% interest in the profits, losses and capital distributions of the 
Partnership. 

The Limited Partner holds 13,346,196 Class A common units representing a net capital contribution of $13,346 in the 
Partnership. The Limited Partner has 99.90% interest in the profits, losses and capital distribution of the Partnership.  

 

15. Non-cash working capital 

   2017   2016 

Trade and other receivables (note 6)  $       (2,221)  $               (1)
Inventories (note 7)   (82)   - 
Prepaid expenses              (358)                    - 
Trade and other payables (note 10)                 1,143                        - 
Customer deposits   103   - 

  $ (1,415)  $ (1) 

Included in specific items on consolidated statements of cash flows:  
Business acquisitions         1,469                       - 
Non-cash operating working capital  $      54  $      (1) 

   
   

16. Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities: 

 
 
   

 Short-term 
 loans and 
 borrowings 

  Long-term 
  loans and 
 borrowings 

Issued during the year ended December 31, 2017    $ 44,845  $ 8,660 

Redemptions or repayments     (41,692)   - 

Balance at December 31, 2017    $ 3,153  $ $8,660 
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17. Related party balances and transactions 

The Partnership is indirectly 100% owned by EPCOR. The Partnership purchases services from EPCOR and its 
subsidiaries relating to operational and inventory management, administration, maintenance, repair, utilities, facilities, 
general plant use, employee costs, executive oversight, legal, finance, treasury, audit, human resources, procurement, 
and information technology services pursuant to service agreements. Transactions between the Partnership and its 
related parties are in the normal course of operations, and are generally based on normal commercial rates, as agreed to 
by the parties.  

The key management personnel of the Partnership have been defined as members of its board of directors. No payments 
were made to key personnel in the current or comparative period.  

The following summarizes the Partnership's related party transactions with EPCOR and its subsidiaries: 

   2017                  2016 
Statements of Comprehensive Income    
Other administrative expenses (a)  $ 1,124  $ - 
Finance expenses (b)  $ 22  $ - 

(a) Relates to expenditures for support and integration costs and administrative services. 

(b) Relates to interest expense on short-term and long-term notes payable to EPCOR.  

The following summarizes the Partnership's related party balances with EPCOR and its subsidiaries: 

   2017                 2016 
Statements of Financial Position   
Trade and other receivables (c)  $ -  $ 1 
Trade and other payables (d)  $ 30  $ - 
Loans and borrowings (e)  $ 11,813  $ - 
Provisions (f)  $ 8  $ - 

(c) Relates to receivable balance pertaining to issuance of Partnership units. 

(d) Relates to accrued interest on long-term notes payable to EPCOR. 

(e) Relates to short-term and long-term notes payable to EPCOR. 

(f) Relates to provisions for employee benefits. 

 

18. Financial instruments 

Classification 

The classification of the Partnership’s financial instruments at December 31, 2017, is summarized as follows: 

 Classification 

Fair value 

hierarchy  

  Loans and 

  receivables 

  Other financial 

   liabilities 

Measured at amortized cost    

Cash and cash equivalents    X    Level 1 

Trade and other receivables (note 6)   X    Level 3 

Customer deposits    X   Level 3 

Trade and other payables (note 10)    X   Level 3 

Loans and borrowings (note 11)    X   Level 2 
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 Fair value 

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, customer deposits and trade and other 
payables approximate their fair values due to the short-term nature of these financial instruments. 

Fair value hierarchy 

The financial instruments of the Partnership that are recorded at fair value have been classified into levels using a fair 
value hierarchy. A Level 1 valuation is determined by unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities. A Level 2 valuation is based upon inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the 
instruments either directly or indirectly. A Level 3 valuation for the assets and liabilities are not based on observable 
market data. 

Loans and borrowings 

Short-term debt is measured at amortized cost and its fair value is not materially different from its carrying amount due to 
its short-term nature. 

The carrying value of long-term loans and borrowings approximate their fair values  as of December 31, 2017 due to the 
fact that the loans were issued in November 2017.  Between November 1, 2017 and December 31, 2017 there has not 
been a material change between the carrying value and fair value of loans and borrowing. 

 

19. Financial risk management 

Overview 

The Partnership is exposed to a number of different financial risks, arising from business activities and its use of financial 
instruments, including market risk, credit risk, and liquidity risk. The Partnership’s overall risk management process is 
designed to identify, assess, measure, manage, mitigate and report on business risk which includes financial risk. 
Enterprise risk management is overseen by EPCOR’s Board of Directors and senior management is responsible for 
fulfilling objectives, targets, and policies approved by the Board of Directors of EPCOR. EPCOR’s Director, Audit and Risk 
Management provide the Board of Directors of EPCOR with an enterprise risk assessment quarterly. Risk management 
strategies, policies, and limits are designed to help ensure the risk exposures are managed within the EPCOR’s business 
objectives and risk tolerance. The Partnership’s financial risk management objective is to protect and minimize volatility in 
earnings and cash flow. 

Financial risk management including interest rate risk, liquidity risk and the associated credit risk management is carried 
out by the centralized Treasury function of EPCOR in accordance with applicable policies. The Audit Committee of the 
Board of Directors of EPCOR, in its oversight role, performs regular and ad-hoc reviews of risk management controls and 
procedures to help ensure compliance. 

Market risk 

Market risk is the risk of loss that results from changes in market factors such as energy prices and interest rates. The 
level of market risk to which the Partnership is exposed at any point in time varies depending on market conditions, 
expectations of future price or market rate movements and the composition of the Partnership’s financial assets and 
liabilities held. EPCOR’s financial exposure management policy is approved by the Board of Directors of EPCOR and the 
associated procedures and practices are designed to manage the interest rate risk throughout the Partnership. 

Interest rate risk 

The Partnership is exposed to interest rate risk from the possibility that changes in the interest rates will affect future cash 
flows or the fair values of its financial instruments. Interest rate risk associated with short-term debt is immaterial due to its 
short-term maturity. At December 31, 2017, all long-term debt was fixed rate.  
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Credit risk 

Credit risk is the possible financial loss associated with the ability of counterparties to satisfy their contractual obligations 
to the Partnership, including payment and performance. EPCOR’s counterparty credit risk management policy is approved 
by the Board of Directors of EPCOR and the associated procedures and practices are designed to manage the credit risks 
associated with the various business activities throughout the Company. Credit and counterparty risk management 
procedures and practices generally include assessment of individual counterparty creditworthiness and establishment of 
exposure limits prior to entering into a transaction with the counterparty. Exposures and concentrations are subsequently 
monitored and are regularly reported to senior management. Creditworthiness continues to be evaluated after 
transactions have been initiated, at a minimum, on an annual basis. To manage and mitigate credit risk, the Partnership 
employs various credit mitigation practices such as master netting agreements, pre-payment arrangements and other 
forms of credit enhancements including cash deposits, parent Partnership guarantees, and bank letters of credit.  

Maximum credit risk exposure 

The Partnership’s maximum credit exposure is represented by the carrying amount of the trade and other receivables 
balance of $2,221. These carrying amounts do not take into account collateral held. At December 31, 2017, the 
Partnership held cash deposits and a letter of credit of $336 as security for certain counterparty accounts receivable.  

Credit quality and concentrations 

The Partnership is exposed to credit risk on outstanding trade receivables associated with natural gas services to 
customers.  

The Partnership’s trade receivables are unrated, unsecured and not of investment grade.  

Rate-regulated customer credit risk 

Credit risk exposure is generally limited to amounts due from residential and commercial customers for natural gas 
consumed but not yet paid for. The Partnership mitigates credit risk from counterparties by performing credit checks and 
on higher risk retailers, by taking pre-payments or cash deposits. 

Trade and other receivables and allowance for doubtful accounts 

Trade and other receivables consist primarily of amounts due from residential and commercial customers. The 
Partnership mitigates these exposures by dealing with creditworthy counterparties and, when appropriate and 
contractually allowed, obtaining appropriate security from customers.  

Credit losses are generally low and the Partnership provides an allowance for doubtful accounts on estimated credit 
losses. 

The aging of accounts receivables was as follows:  

December 31, 2017 
Gross accounts

Receivables
Allowance for 

doubtful accounts 
Net accounts 

receivables 

Current (a)  $ 2,169 $ -  $ 2,169 
Outstanding 31 to 60 days   57   -   57 
Outstanding 61 to 90 days                         (5)   -                          (5) 
Outstanding more than 90 days   102  (102)                           - 

  $ 2,323 $ (102)  $ 2,221 

(a) Current amounts represent trade and other receivables as well as accrued revenues outstanding up to 30 days. 
Amounts outstanding for more than 30 days are considered past due. 
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Bad debt expense of $6 recognized in the year relates to changes in customer amounts that the Partnership determined 
may not be fully collectable. Allowances for doubtful accounts are determined by considering the unique factors of 
different customer types. Allowances and write-offs are determined either by applying specific risk factors to customer 
groups' aged balances in trade and other receivables or by reviewing material accounts on a case-by-case basis. 
Reductions in trade and other receivables and the related allowance for doubtful accounts are recorded when the 
Partnership has determined that recovery is not possible. 

The changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts were as follows: 

      2017 

Allowance acquired through business acquisition     $ 96 
Additional allowances created    6 
Receivables written off                     - 

Balance, end of year     $          102 

At December 31, 2017, the Partnership held $336 of customer deposits and a letter of credit for the purpose of mitigating 
the credit risk associated with trade and other receivables from customers. 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Partnership will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they become due. The 
Partnership's liquidity is managed centrally by EPCOR’s Treasury function. EPCOR manages liquidity risk through regular 
monitoring of cash and currency requirements by preparing short-term and long-term cash flow forecasts and by matching 
the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities to identify financing requirements. The financing requirements of the 
Partnership are addressed through operating cash flows, and if necessary, intercompany financing from EPCOR.  

The undiscounted cash flow requirements and contractual maturities of the Partnership's financial liabilities, including 
interest payments, are as follows: 

At December 31, 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 
 2023 and 
thereafter

 
Total

contractual
cash flows

        

Trade and other payables(a)  $ 1,113  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ -  $ - $ 1,113

Customer Deposits   103   -   -   -   -    -  103

Loans and borrowings   3,153   -   -   -   -    8,660  11,813

Interest payments on 
loans and borrowings   332   332   332   332   332    8,290  9,950

 $ 4,701   $ 332  $ 332  $ 332  $ 332  $ 16,950 $ 22,979

 (a) Excluding accrued interest on loans and borrowings of $30. 

The Partnership’s undiscounted cash flow requirements and contractual maturities in the next twelve months of $4,701 will 
be funded from operating cash flows and additional loans and borrowings. 
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20. Capital management 

The Partnership’s primary objectives when managing capital is to safeguard the Partnership’s ability to continue as a 
going concern and pay cash distributions to its unit holders. The Partnership manages its capital structure in a manner 
consistent with the risk characteristics of the underlying assets and in accordance with OEB regulatory decisions.  

The Partnership manages capital through regular monitoring of cash requirements by preparing short-term and long-term 
cash flow forecasts and reviewing monthly financial results. The Partnership matches the maturity profiles of financial 
assets and liabilities to identify financing requirements to help ensure an adequate amount of liquidity 
 
The Partnership considers its capital structure to consist of loans and borrowings (including current portion) and unit 
holder’s equity. The following table represents the Partnership's total capital:  

                     2017 

Loans and borrowings (including current portion) (note 11)   $ 11,813 
Cash and cash equivalents    (2,408) 
Net debt    9,405 
Total equity    12,928 
Total capital   $ 22,333 

To manage or adjust its capital structure, the Partnership can issue new debt, repay existing debt or issue or redeem 
common units. 

21. Commitments and contingencies 

The following are the Partnership’s commitments and contingencies not otherwise disclosed in these financial statements 
as at December 31, 2017: 

(a) Commitments for the minimum cost of the monthly demand charge from Union Gas regardless of the total volume of 
gas delivered into the distribution system estimated at $900 annually.  

(b) Commitments for the purchase of general administrative and operation services from EPCOR and its subsidiaries are 
estimated at $320 annually. These estimates are subject to change based on actual activity levels. 

22. Business acquisition  

Effective November 1, 2017, the Partnership assumed operations and acquired substantially all of the net natural gas 
distribution assets of Natural Resource Gas Limited (“NRG”) for cash consideration of $22,019. NRG provides services to 
approximately 8,700 customers located in several Southern Ontario municipalities. Prior to the acquisition of NRG net 
assets, there was no operating activity in the Partnership.   

The fair values of net assets acquired in the acquisition of NRG are as follows: 

      2017 

Fair value of net assets acquired:   

Trade and other receivables     $         1,022 
Inventories      112 
Prepaid expenses                   478 
Property, plant and equipment                17,485 
Intangible assets                  1,182 
Goodwill                  1,886 
Other liabilities      (146) 

Net assets     $ 22,019 
 
The property, plant and equipment primarily consist of natural gas distribution assets. 
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The intangible assets  consist of the right to distribute natural gas within the franchise area of southern Ontario for a 
period of 20 years. 
 
The goodwill recognized at fair value of $1,886 includes the value of the expected benefits to the Partnership by providing 
entry into the Ontario natural gas and utility market, along with the potential for expanded operations in the Ontario region. 
 
The Partnership incurred integration costs of $1,000 to complete the acquisition. Integration costs are included on the  
‘Other administration expenses’ financial statement caption in the current period. 
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